
KASSON CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA  
Wednesday, February 14, 2018  

 
PLEDGE OF ALLIEGANCE 
 
6:00 A. COUNCIL  
  

1. Approve agenda - Make additions, deletions or corrections at this time. 
2. Consent Agenda - All matters listed under Item 2, Consent Agenda, are considered to be routine and non-

controversial by the City Council and will be enacted with one motion.  There will not be separate discussion of these 
items unless a Council Member so requests, in which case the item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and will 

be considered separately.  
  

a. Minutes from January 24, 2018 Regular Meeting 
 

b. Claims processed after the January 24, 2018 regular meeting, as audited for payment 
 

 c.  Conferences: 
   Josh Hanson Ethics & Integrity  4/11-12 St Paul, MN  $250 
  Josh Hanson Burnout, Stress & trauma 4/16-17 Albert Lea, MN $250 
  Charles Bradford WW Conf  3/21-23 Brooklyn Park, MN $390 
  Dan Trapp  WW Conf  3/21-23 Brooklyn Park, MN $390 
  Jarrod Nelson  PCB Mgmt  2/27-28 Plymouth, MN  $725 
  Jeff Ulve  AWWA Wtr Oper  3/14-16 Rochester, MN $140 
  Ron Unger, Mark Rappe, Corey Carstensen – Certified Pool Oper Course  
 March 21-22 Rochester, MN $249 each 
  Linda Rappe IIMC Annual Conf  5/20-25 Norfolk, VA  $600 
  David Vosen MN Rural Water Conf  3/6-8  St. Cloud  $230 
 
 d.  Resolution Accepting Donation to Kasson Fire Department 
 
 e.  Resolution Accepting Donation to Promote Positive Police/Community Interactions 
 
B. VISITORS TO THE COUNCIL 
     

 C. PUBLIC FORUM 
· May not be used to continue discussion on an agenda item that already had been held as a public hearing. 
· This section is limited to 15 minutes and each speaker is limited to 4 minutes. 
· Speakers not heard will be first to present at the next Council meeting. 
· Speakers will only be recognized once. 
· Matters under negotiation, litigation or related to personnel will not be discussed. 
· Questions posed by a speaker will generally be responded to in writing. 
· Speakers will be required to state their name and their address for the record. 

    
 D. PUBLIC HEARING  
    

E. COMMITTEE REPORT 
 1.  Arena Committee Report 
 2.  Park Board minutes 
  a.  Action on 2018 KAC Wages – Motion Required 
  b.  Action on Hiring KAC Manager, Shift Supervisors & Head Lifeguards – Motion Required 



 3.  Planning Commission 
  a.  Resolution for Hack’s 2nd Addition Final Plat – Motion Required 
  b.  Resolution for Rezone of 105 S Mantorville Ave – Motion Required 

c.  Resolution for Conditional Use Permit for Church/School at 105 S Mantorville Ave. – 
Motion Required 
d.  Resolution for Conditional Use Permit for Daycare at 105 S Mantorville Ave. – Motion 
Required 

 4.  Planning Commission Annual Report 
 

 F. OLD BUSINESS 
1.  PFA Bond Resolution – Motion Required 
2.  PFA Loan Agreement – Motion Required 
3.  Aspen Mills Invoice for Fire Department Class A Uniforms – Motion Required 
4.  Contribution for Zumbro River Water Trail – Motion Required 
5.  Water Tower Agreement – Motion Required 
 

 G. NEW BUSINESS 
   
 H. MAYOR’S REPORT 

 1.  Proclamation of “Not for Sale” Day 
 
I. ADMINISTRATORS REPORT 
 1.  Clarification on Customer Classification in electric rates - FYI 
 2.  Open Book Meeting - FYI 
  

 J. ENGINEER’S REPORT 
1. Comprehensive Plan meeting/discussion with Local Developers and Business Community on 

February 22nd at 10:00AM at City Hall. 
 

K. PERSONNEL 
  1.  Letter of Resignation from Officer Mike Bodenheim – Motion Required 

2.  Request from Police Department to hire a full time officer position – Motion Required 
  3.  Letter from Chief Fitch regarding Firefighter Menchaca – Motion Required 
 
 L. ATTORNEY  
  1.  Closed Meeting for Real Estate Offers and Counteroffers 
  2.  Authorization to Amend Lease Agreement 16 1st Ave NW – Motion Required 
 
 M. CORRESPONDENCE  

 1.  CMMPA Annual Report 
 2.  CMMPA Cover Letter 
 3.  Admin Summary  
 4.  PD January Statistics 
 5.  SMIF Letter 
 6.  MnDOT TAP Grant Presentation 
 
N. ADJOURN  



 Please go to www.cityofkasson.com for full video 
 

KASSON CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
January 24, 2018 

 
Pursuant to due call and notice thereof, a regular City Council meeting was held at City Hall on the 
24th day of January, 2018 at 6:00 P.M. 
 
THE FOLLOWING MEMBERS WERE PRESENT: Borgstrom, Buck, Eggler, McKern and Zelinske 
 
THE FOLLOWING MEMBERS WERE ABSENT: None 
 
THE FOLLOWING WERE ALSO PRESENT:  City Administrator Theresa Coleman, City Attorney Melanie 
Leth, City Clerk Linda Rappe, Finance Director Nancy Zaworski, Candy McKern, Don Westfall, Dave 
Dubbells, Melisa Ferris, Sarah Middelton, Ryland Eichhorst and Ron Carlson 
   
COUNCIL  
Approve agenda  
Add: G.2 Notice to call bond 
Motion to Approve the Amended Agenda made by Councilmember Eggler, second by 
Councilmember Borgstrom with all voting Aye 
 
CONSENT AGENDA  
Minutes from January 10, 2018 Regular Meeting 

 
Claims processed after the January 10, 2017 regular meeting, as audited for payment in the amount 
of $514,338.01 

 
Conferences: 
Jason Peck Ethics and Integrity April 11-12 St. Paul, MN $250  

 
Pay Requests: 
DN Tanks Request #12 WWTP  $81,170.32 
DN Tanks Request #13 WWTP  $91,599.24 
Motion to Approve the Consent Agenda made by Councilmember Buck, second by 
Councilmember Borgstrom with all voting Aye. 

 
VISITORS TO THE COUNCIL 
Sarah Middleton – Zumbro Water Trail – This project is part of the Greater Minnesota Regional Park 
and Trails Commission.  In their watershed district they are trying to create a waterway trail system 
and are in the process and talking to cities and communities to get support if you are interested in 
participating.  First step would cost $150.  Ryland Eichhorst, Mayor of Oronoco, they would like to 
hire a consultant at $2000 and that cost would be divided among the cities participating.  They are 
still gaining support and meeting with city councils in the area.  Mayor McKern asked if Mantorville 
is on board since Kasson has no access to the river.  Mr. Eichhorst stated the intent of this water 
trail is to have motorized and non-motorized plans, such as bike trails that connect to the river.  
Councilmember Buck stated that for $150 we should be in the preliminary plan and then we could 
decide once the plan is done whether we want to continue.   

   

http://www.cityofkasson.com/
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PUBLIC FORUM 
Melisa Ferris – 204 4th Ave NW – The Water Tower Committee met last week and she wanted to 
clarify questions that were asked by Councilmember Borgstrom at that meeting.  Ms. Ferris stated 
that she is a licensed attorney in the State of Minnesota and she is on retired status and no she has 
never been asked to represent the City of Kasson and nor has she has ever indicated she was 
representing the City of Kasson.    
 
Ron Carlson – Has put in a proposal on the Shopko lot.  Mayor McKern stated that the Shopko Lot 
Overview listed on the Agenda is not specific to Mr. Carlson’s proposal.  The City is contacting 
Shopko and the Administrator talked to a representative from Shopko yesterday. He was waiting for 
his supervisor to review the request.  Mr. Carlson stated that he has a potential buyer and is under a 
time constraint.  City Attorney Leth stated that this is not just as simple as a purchase agreement 
there is a development agreement. Mr. Carlson’s attorney sent correspondence to Attorney Leth on 
January 2.  Mr. Carlson requested a timeline. Mayor Mckern stated that the City would like to have 
it done as soon as possible. City Administrator Coleman added that the City owns the lot and has 
asked for an access easement, additional land and trail access on Outlot A.     
 
PUBLIC HEARING  
 
COMMITTEE REPORT 
EDA Annual Report   

  
OLD BUSINESS 
CEDA Contract – Councilperson Eggler gave an overview of what he wrote in his evaluation.   
Administrator Coleman’s evaluation was in the packet.  Mayor McKern stated she is not an 
employee of the city she is an employee of CEDA and we need to evaluate on our own criteria.  
Councilperson Borgstrom stated he wasn’t looking for evaluations but wanted to know if she is 
doing what we hired her to do.  Mayor McKern stated that the EDA annual report stated what she 
has done for the City.  Motion to Approve the Contract with CEDA for 2018, made by 
Councilperson Eggler, second by Councilperson Zelinske with all voting Aye. 
 
CEDA Billing – Councilperson Buck clarified that the City pays up front for this service.  Motion to 
Approve the CEDA billing  for 1st Quarter 2018 made by Councilperson Eggler, second by 
Councilperson Zelinske with all voting Aye 
 
Old Stone Water Tower – Councilperson Zelinske stated the committees had met and prepared an 
agreement.  The Dodge County Historical Society Board has proposed changes. He believes that, if 
the Committees, meet one more time they can get it finished.  
 
Attorney Comparison 
Administrator Coleman stated that she will need more time since there was a large amount of 
litigation to be able to do a comparison.   The Council agreed that doing this comparison is not 
necessary. 
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NEW BUSINESS 
Sewer Connection Fee – Administrator Coleman stated that the terms “access” and “connection” 
fees are separate charges. In 2017, the connection fees were increased and a sewer access charge 
(SAC) was added to the fee schedule. There was no change to those fees in 2018. Following a 2005 
Council decision, the sewer connection fee for developers who paid the $4500 SAC fees at platting 
prior to December of 2005, where charged a reduced connection charge.  Mayor McKern would like 
the total costs charged at the time of the building permit to be the same as 2017.  Motion that the 
subdivisions platted before 2005 that prepaid the SAC will pay $750 connection fee, this will 
encompass the currently platted portions of Southfork, Prairie Willows and Blaine’s 11th and 12th 
and all other subdivisions will pay the $2450 connection fee, made by Mayor McKern, second by 
Councilperson Eggler with all voting Aye. 
 
Notice to Call – Finance Director Zaworski stated that PFA needs a 30 day notice and this is the 
notice to call the temporary loan we had with MN Rural Water Association.  The City had 
anticipated 2% interest, the actual interest rate was 1.095%.  Motion to Approve the Notice made 
by Councilperson Buck, second by Councilperson Zelinske with all voting Aye 
 
MAYOR’S REPORT 
The Mayor asked staff to post a notice that a possible quorum will be present at the Friends of the 
Library Annual Meeting on February 3 at 10:00AM. No business will be conducted.   
Councilperson Eggler and City Engineer Theobald are presenting at the MnDOT for the TAP grant on 
Feb 9. 
Mayor McKern asked that anything Council Members want follow-up on at the next meeting; please 
take time to let him know at the end of the Council meeting.   
Mayor McKern has asked staff for a cover sheet for agenda items. 
Work session on March 17 – any requests please let the Administrator know. 
Appointments – Mayor Mckern proposed the following appointments: 
EDA - Chamber appointee – Liza Larsen to EDA term ending 2020, and Janice Borgstrom-Durst to the 
term ending 2018 
Planning and Zoning – Mayor McKern spoke with Joe Fitch and he is available.  Mayor McKern 
believes that fire department should have a presence on planning and zoning.   
Councilperson Borgstrom still has an issue with the Fire Chief being appointed, Councilperson Buck  
agreed. 
 
Motion to Approve Janice Borgstrom-Durst to the EDA for the term ending 2018 made by Mayor 
McKern, second by Councilperson Eggler with all voting Aye. 
Motion to Approve Liza Larsen to EDA as the Chamber Appointee to the term ending 2020 made 
by Mayor McKern, second by Councilperson Zelinske with all voting Aye.   
Motion to Appoint Joe Fitch to Planning Commission to fill the vacancy of Mark Sannes made by 
Mayor McKern, second by Councilperson Eggler.   Ayes: McKern, Eggler and Zelinske   Nays: 
Borgstrom and Buck 

 
ADMINISTRATORS REPORT 
Shopko Lot – Overview – Mayor McKern stated that he has received a lot of feedback and wants 
this on the record.     
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ENGINEER’S REPORT 
WHKS Fee Schedule – Finance Director Zaworski stated that Engineer’s rate went up just less than 

10% ($9).  Director Zaworski stated there is no contract that needs to be renewed and they just review 

the costs.  The rates for 2016 and 2017 didn’t change. 

 

PERSONNEL 
 
ATTORNEY  
Hack’s Subdivision – City Attorney Leth stated that she had a number of conversations with people 
at the County and it was at their recommendation that their entire original plat be re-platted and 
the property owner is seeking re-platting a portion of the original.  The County’s concern is that it is 
messy and causes potential confusion for people examining title in the future.  Attorney Leth also 
spoke to Lisa Haney, the Dodge County Surveyor, and they discourage the use of the term “replat” 
in the name and would prefer that it be called Hack’s Second Addition.  Administrator Coleman 
noted that the Planning Commission recommended only lots 1,3 and 4 pay wac and sac and 
parkland fees.  Lot 2 has a connection and will not be charged a connection fee at the time of the 
building permit. Although the Planning Commission recommended no sidewalk on the north 
property line, the sidewalk is at the discretion of the Council. Administrator Coleman stated that 
when Hack’s Addition was platted in 2007, the City did not charge WAC, SAC, or parkland fees. 
Motion to Approve the Preliminary Plat with the Removal of the Sidewalk requirement for this 
addition made by Councilperson Buck, second by Councilperson Eggler with all voting Ayes. 

Resolution #1.4-18 
Resolution Approving the Preliminary Plat of Hacks Second Addition 

(on file) 
 

1.  Closed Meeting – Litigation Strategy – Library 
2.  Closed Meeting – Litigation Strategy Related to Special Assessment Challenges 
3.  Closed Meeting -  Real Estate – Offer and counteroffer 
Attorney Leth stated there has been a request by the public to open and close each session.  There 
is not a requirement that we open and close each session.  The first two regarding litigation strategy 
would not be recorded and the last one would be recorded.  Mayor McKern closed the meeting for 
litigation for Library and Special Assessment challenges and will not be recorded and the last one for 
real estate will be recorded.   
 
Meeting Re-Opened at 8:06PM 
 
Summary of Closed Meeting #1 - Recommendation to Attorney on how to proceed, that portion was 
closed and not recorded per statute. 
Summary of Closed Meeting #2 – The Council discussed and updated, there is no new action, that 
portion was not recorded per statute 
Summary of Closed Meeting #3 – offer and counteroffers on the Shopko Lots – the Attorney was 
given direction on counter offers, this portion was recorded per statute. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE – Correspondence was reviewed 
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Follow-up Requests – Councilperson Zelinske would like Administrator Coleman to contact Dodge 
County Historical Society to set up a meeting. 
Mayor McKern referred to the proposed shared access agreement that was mentioned in the email 
from the City Engineer. 
 
ADJOURN 8:09PM 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
____________________________    __________________________ 
Linda Rappe, City Clerk     Chris McKern, Mayor   























































































CITY OF KASSON 

RESOLUTION #2.x-18 

 

  RESOLUTION ACCEPTING DONATIONS FOR THE KASSON FIRE 

DEPARTMENT 

 

 

 

WHEREAS, The Dover Firefighters Relief Association has made a donation to the City 

of Kasson in the amount of $6,333.26 to be allocated to lawful purposes to the Fire 

Department. 

 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

KASSON, MINNESOTA: 

 

These donations to the City of Kasson Fire Department are hereby accepted. 

 

ADOPTED this 14
th

 day of February, 2018. 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________   _______________________ 

Chris McKern, Mayor       Linda Rappe, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The motion for the adoption of the foregoing resolution was made by Council Member -- 

and duly seconded by Council Member --.  Upon a vote being taken, the following 

members voted in favor thereof:  -- and --.  Those against same: --. 
 



CITY OF KASSON 

RESOLUTION #2.x-18 

 

  RESOLUTION ACCEPTING DONATIONS TO PROMOTE POSITIVE 

POLICE/COMMUNITY INTERACTIONS 

 

 

WHEREAS, Dodge County Wind LLC has made a donation to the City of Kasson in the 

amount of $500.00 to be allocated to promote positive Police/Community Interactions 

initiatives. 

 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

KASSON, MINNESOTA: 

 

These donations to the City of Kasson are hereby accepted. 

 

ADOPTED this 14
th

 day of February, 2018. 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________   _______________________ 

Chris McKern, Mayor       Linda Rappe, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The motion for the adoption of the foregoing resolution was made by Council Member -- 

and duly seconded by Council Member --.  Upon a vote being taken, the following 

members voted in favor thereof:  -- and --.  Those against same: --. 
 



 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

DATE: February 14, 2018 

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

 

 

FROM: Ron Unger, Park and Recreation Supervisor 

Theresa Coleman, City Administrator 

 

 

RE: Kasson Aquatic Center Wages 2018 and Hiring 

 

 

 

Background:  

 The Minnesota Minimum Wage increased to $9.65 on August 1, 2017 at 

which time the concession stand workers received an increase. All other 

staff remained at their current wage.  

 

 Supervisor Ron Unger received 77 applications. He and Josh Mitchell 

interviewed 45 new applicants. They expect to hire 70 Aquatic Center 

Staff.  

 

Wage Recommendations: 

 

 Approve increases for Kasson Aquatic Center employees in relation to 

their level of responsibility and the increases in minimum wage.  

 

 Start 2018 Season     

 Concessions/Admissions/Crossing Guard  $  9.65    

 Lifeguards      $10.40    

 WSI’s       $11.40    

 Supervisors      $13.15    

 Manager      $17.90   

  

 

Hiring Recommendations:   

Manager - Josh Mitchell    

 Shift Supervisors – Brianna Knutson, Tanner Dufault, Abigail Tjosaas 

 Head Lifeguards – Marisa Alvarado, Jared Johnson, Brayden Tjosaas 



 

 

CITY OF KASSON 

RESOLUTION # 2.x-18 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE FINAL PLAT OF  

HACKS SECOND ADDITION 
 

WHEREAS, Massey Properties LLC, the owner of the property in question have submitted a 

request for a Final Plat, and; 
 

WHEREAS, at a public hearing duly held on the 12th day of February 2018, the Planning 

Commission heard testimony of all persons wishing to comment on the proposed Final Plat; and 
 

WHEREAS, the appropriate City Staff and consultants have performed a technical review of the 

proposed Final Plat; and 
 

WHEREAS, following the public testimony and report of the technical review, the Planning 

Commission reviewed all relevant information regarding the proposed Final Plat; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is the finding of the Planning Commission that conditions established for the 

approval of the Final Plat have been addressed; and 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

KASSON, MINNESOTA: 
 

That the said Final Plat of Hacks Second Addition is hereby approved by the City Council of 

the City of Kasson with the following conditions:  
 

Developer to Obtain Right of Way Permit 

Engineer to Approve Service Locations 

Engineer to Approve Roadway Restoration 

Restore Pavement/Chip Seal after Hookup 

Engineer to Approve Bituminous Trail Restoration 

Bituminous Trial must Meet ADA Requirements 

Water and Sewer Access Charges at Final Plat 

Parkland Fees at Final Plat 

Proof of Sealed Well 

“Insertatee” Sewer Connection 

Provide Drainage Easement 

 
 

Adopted this 14
th

 day of February 2018. 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_____________________________   __________________________ 

Linda Rappe, City Clerk    Chris McKern, Mayor  
 

The motion for the adoption of the foregoing resolution was made by Council Member ---------- and duly 
seconded by Council Member ----------.  Upon a vote being taken, the following members voted in favor 

thereof: -----------, ----------, ----------------, ----------------- and ------------------.  Those against same: None. 



 
 
 
 
 
Planning Commission Annual Report 
 
 
 Final Plat Approval:      Prairie Willows Estates 4 
       Leth Subdivision 
     Houston’s First Subdivision 
     Meadowbrook II 
 
 Conditional Use Permits:  Prairie Willows Estates 4: PUD 
     Davidson Development: Auto Sales 
     Kwik Trip: Sign  
     Stannard: Rental Storage Units 
     Czaplewski: Funeral Home 
 
 Variance:   Images: Setbacks 
 
 Zoning Ordinance:  Rental Storage Units Conditional Use in C-3 
 
 Review:    Ordinance Sections 150, 151, 152-152.54 
     Combined Definitions 
 
 Resolutions:    Adoption of Safe Routes to School Plan 
 
 Not Approved:   Radel GDP and Rezone Request 
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EXTRACT OF MINUTES OF A MEETING 

CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF KASSON, MINNESOTA 

HELD:  February 14, 2018 

Pursuant to due call and notice thereof, a regular or special meeting of the City Council 

of the City of Kasson, Dodge County, Minnesota, was duly held at the City Hall on February 14, 

2018, at 6:00 P.M., for the purpose in part of awarding the sale of a $2,875,500 General 

Obligation Sewer Revenue Note of 2018. 

The following members were present: 

and the following were absent: 

Member ______________ introduced the following resolution and moved its adoption: 

RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE OFFER OF THE MINNESOTA PUBLIC FACILITIES 

AUTHORITY TO PURCHASE A $2,875,500 GENERAL OBLIGATION SEWER REVENUE 

NOTE OF 2018, PROVIDING FOR ITS ISSUANCE AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF 

A BOND PURCHASE AND PROJECT LOAN AGREEMENT 

 WITH POINT SOURCE IMPLEMENTATION GRANT 

A. WHEREAS, the City owns and operates a municipal water utility system (the 

"Water System"), a municipal sanitary sewer utility system (the "Sanitary Sewer System"), and a 

municipal storm sewer utility system (the "Storm Sewer System" and, together with the Water 

System and the Sanitary Sewer System, the "System"), as separate revenue producing public 

utilities; and 

B. WHEREAS, the net revenues of the Sanitary Sewer System are pledged to the 

payment of the City's outstanding (i) $2,500,000 General Obligation Temporary Utility Revenue 

Note, Series 2016A, dated November 16, 2016 (the “Temporary Note”), (ii) $1,107,904 original 

principal amount General Obligation Sewer Revenue Note of 2011, dated August 31, 2011,  and 

(iii) $7,820,000 original principal amount General Obligation Sewer Revenue Note of 2001, 

dated August 23, 2001 (together the "Outstanding Sewer Bonds"); and 

C. WHEREAS, the net revenues of the Water System and the Sanitary Sewer System 

are pledged to the payment of the "2002 PIR Refunding Portion" and the "System Refunding 

Portion" of the City's outstanding $1,775,000 original principal amount General Obligation 

Refunding Bonds, Series 2011A, dated November 1, 2011 (the "Outstanding Water and Sewer 

Bonds"); and 

D. WHEREAS, the net revenues of the System are pledged to (i) the "System 

Improvements Portion" of the City's outstanding $1,430,000 original principal amount General 

Obligation Street Reconstruction and Utility Revenue Bonds, Series 2012A, dated July 1, 2012 

(the "Outstanding 2012A Utility Bonds") and (ii) the “Utility Portion” of the City’s outstanding 

$6,780,000 General Obligation Improvement and Utility Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A, dated 
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July 5, 2017 (the “Outstanding 2017A Bonds” and together with the Outstanding 2012A Utility 

Bonds, the “Outstanding Utility Bonds”) ; and 

E. WHEREAS, the City has heretofore issued the Temporary Note" pursuant to 

Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 475 and Section 444.075, particularly Section 475.61(5), for the 

purpose of providing money to temporarily finance costs relating to improvements to the 

Sanitary Sewer System in anticipation of financing from the Minnesota Public Facilities 

Authority (the "PFA"); and 

F. WHEREAS, the Temporary Note matures on December 1, 2019 and is subject to 

redemption and prepayment in whole at the option of the Issuer on any date at a price of par plus 

accrued interest, as provided in the resolution of the City Council adopted on October 12, 2016, 

authorizing the issuance of the Temporary Note (the "Prior Resolution") and under the terms of 

the Temporary Note and as part of the underlying security for the payment thereof, the City has 

covenanted to issue bonds for delivery and payment on or before the maturity date of the 

Temporary Note for the purpose of refunding the Temporary Note to the extent necessary to pay 

the principal and interest thereon, the payment of which has not otherwise been provided for; and 

G. WHEREAS, the City Council deems it desirable and in the best interests of the 

City to call the Temporary Note for redemption and prepayment on February 27, 2018 (the "Call 

Date"), all in accordance with the Prior Resolution, to provide moneys from the proceeds of the 

Note, as hereinafter defined, and the Point Source Implementation Grant funds to be received 

from the PFA, for the prompt and full payment of the principal and interest on the Temporary 

Note (the "Refunding"); and 

H. WHEREAS, the City has heretofore applied for a loan from the PFA to provide 

financing pursuant to Minnesota Statutes, Chapters 475 and 444.075, to (a) pay the costs of the 

Refunding and (b) to provide funds for wastewaster treatment plant improvements to reduce 

phosphorus discharge and accommodate flows from nearby Mantorville, all as further described 

and detailed in the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency's certification dated December 21, 2017 

(the "Project"); and 

I. WHEREAS, the PFA is authorized pursuant to Minnesota Statutes, 

Chapter 446A, as amended, to issue its bonds (the "PFA Bonds") and to use the proceeds thereof, 

together with certain other funds, to provide loans and other assistance to municipalities to fund 

eligible costs of construction of publicly owned clean water systems in accordance with the 

federal Clean Water Act and federal Safe Drinking Water Act; and 

J. WHEREAS, the City has applied for a loan from the PFA pursuant to such 

program and the PFA has committed to make a loan to the City in the principal amount of 

$2,875,500, to be disbursed and repaid in accordance with the terms of a Minnesota Public 

Facilities Authority Bond Purchase and Project Loan Agreement with Point Source 

Implementation Grant dated January 18, 2018 (the "Agreement"), a copy of which has been 

presented to the Council and is on file with the Clerk; and 
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K. WHEREAS, the $2,875,500 General Obligation Sewer Revenue Note of 2018 

(the "Note") of the City to be issued pursuant to this resolution is tax-exempt, and in addition the 

City will need to assure the tax-exemption of the PFA Bonds; and 

L. WHEREAS, in accordance with Minnesota Statutes, Section 475.60, Subdivision 

2(4), the City is authorized to issue obligations to a board, department or agency of the State of 

Minnesota by negotiation and without advertisement for bids and the PFA is, and has represented 

that it is, a board, department or agency of the State of Minnesota; and 

M. WHEREAS, a contract or contracts for the Project have been made by the City 

with the approval of the PFA and all other state and federal agencies of which approval is 

required: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Kasson, Dodge 

County, Minnesota, as follows: 

1. Acceptance of Offer; Payment.  The offer of the PFA to purchase the Note, at the 

rate of interest hereinafter set forth, and to pay therefor the sum of $2,875,500 as provided 

below, is hereby accepted, and the sale of the Note is hereby awarded to the PFA.  Payment for 

the Note shall be disbursed in installments as eligible costs of the Refunding and the Project are 

reimbursed or paid, all as provided in the Agreement. 

2. Title; Date; Denomination; Interest Rates; Maturities.  The Note shall be a fully 

registered negotiable obligation, shall be titled "General Obligation Sewer Revenue Note of 

2018," shall be dated as of the date of delivery and shall be issued forthwith.  The Note shall be 

in the principal amount of $2,875,500, or so much thereof as shall be disbursed pursuant to the 

Agreement, shall bear interest on so much of the principal amount of the Note as may be 

disbursed and remains unpaid until the principal amount of the Note has been paid or has been 

provided for, at the rate of 1.095% per annum (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of 

twelve 30-day months).  Interest on the Note is payable semi-annually on February 20 and 

August 20, commencing August 20, 2018.  Interest starts accruing as of the date of the initial 

disbursement.  Principal on the Note shall mature on August 20 of the years and in the 

installments as follows: 

Year Amount Year Amount 

    

2018 $ 65,500 2028 $148,000 

2019 134,000 2029 149,000 

2020 135,000 2030 151,000 

2021 137,000 2031 153,000 

2022 138,000 2032 154,000 

2023 140,000 2033 156,000 

2024 141,000 2034 158,000 

2025 143,000 2035 159,000 

2026 144,000 2036 161,000 

2027 146,000 2037 163,000 
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Interest shall accrue only on the aggregate amount of the Note which has been disbursed 

and is unpaid under the Agreement.  The principal installments shall be paid in the amounts 

scheduled above even if at the time of payment the full principal amount of the Note has not 

been disbursed; provided that if the full principal amount of the Note is never disbursed, the 

amount of the principal not disbursed shall be applied to reduce each unpaid principal installment 

in the proportion that such installment bears to the total of all unpaid principal installments (i.e., 

the remaining principal payment schedule shall be reamortized to provide similarly level annual 

installments of total debt service payments).  Principal, interest and any premium due under the 

Note will be paid on each payment date by wire payment, or by check or draft mailed at least 

five business days prior to the payment date to the person in whose name the Note is registered, 

in any coin or currency of the United States which at the time of payment is legal tender for 

public and private debts. 

Interest on the Note includes amounts treated by the PFA as service fees. 

3. Purpose; Cost.  The proceeds of the Note shall provide funds to pay the costs of 

the Refunding and finance construction of the Project.  The total cost of the construction of the 

Project, including legal and other professional charges, publication and printing costs, interest 

accruing on money borrowed for the Project before the collection of net revenues pledged and 

appropriated therefor, and all other costs necessarily incurred and to be incurred from the 

inception to the completion of the Project, is estimated to be at least equal to the amount of the 

Note.  The City covenants that it shall do all things and perform all acts required of it to assure 

that work on the Project proceeds with due diligence to completion and that any and all permits 

and studies required under law for the Project are obtained. 

4. Redemption.  The Note shall be subject to redemption and prepayment in whole 

or in part at the option of the City, subject to the consent of the PFA, or mandatorily as provided 

in the Agreement.  If redemption is in part, installments of principal payable last under the Note 

shall be prepaid first, unless the City and the holder of the Note agree to a different result. 

5. Registration of Note.  At the time of issuance and delivery of the Note, the officer 

of the City performing the functions of the treasurer (the "Treasurer") shall register the Note in 

the name of the payee in a note register which the Treasurer and the officer's successors in office 

shall maintain for the purpose of registering the ownership of the Note.  The Note shall be 

prepared for execution with an appropriate text and spaces for notation of registration.  The force 

and effect of such registration shall be as stated in the form of Note hereinafter set forth.  

Payment of principal installments and interest, whether upon redemption or otherwise, made 

with respect to the Note, may be made to the registered holder thereof or to the registered 

holder's legal representative, without presentation or surrender of the Note. 

6. Form of Note.  The Note, together with the Certificate of Registration attached 

thereto, shall be in substantially the following form: 

  



10520837v1 

 

 

 5 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 

COUNTY OF DODGE 

CITY OF KASSON 

$2,875,500 GENERAL OBLIGATION SEWER REVENUE NOTE OF 2018 

The City of Kasson, Dodge County, Minnesota (the "City"), certifies that it is indebted 

and for value received promises to pay to the Minnesota Public Facilities Authority or the 

registered assign, the principal sum of TWO MILLION EIGHT HUNDRED SEVENTY FIVE 

THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS, or so much thereof as may have been disbursed, on 

August 20 of the years and in the installments as follows: 

Year Amount Year Amount 

    

2018 $ 65,500 2028 $148,000 

2019 134,000 2029 149,000 

2020 135,000 2030 151,000 

2021 137,000 2031 153,000 

2022 138,000 2032 154,000 

2023 140,000 2033 156,000 

2024 141,000 2034 158,000 

2025 143,000 2035 159,000 

2026 144,000 2036 161,000 

2027 146,000 2037 163,000 

    

and to pay interest on so much of the principal amount of the debt as may be disbursed and 

remains unpaid until the principal amount hereof is paid or has been provided for, at the rate of 

1.095% per annum (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months).  Interest 

on the Note is payable semi-annually on February 20 and August 20, commencing August 20, 

2018.  Interest starts accruing as of the date of the initial disbursement. 

Principal and Interest Payments.  Interest shall accrue only on the aggregate amount of 

this Note which has been disbursed under the Minnesota Public Facilities Authority Bond 

Purchase and Project Loan Agreement with Point Source Implementation Grant dated as of 

January 18, 2018, by and between the City and the Minnesota Public Facilities Authority (the 

"Agreement").  The principal installments shall be paid in the amounts scheduled above even if 

at the time of payment the full principal amount of this Note has not been disbursed; provided 

that if the full principal amount of this Note is never disbursed, the amount of the principal not 

disbursed shall be applied to reduce each unpaid principal installment in the proportion that such 

installment bears to the total of all unpaid principal installments (i.e., the remaining principal 

payment schedule shall be reamortized to provide similarly level annual installments of total debt 

service payments).  Interest on this Note includes amounts treated by the Minnesota Public 

Facilities Authority as service fees.  Principal, interest and any premium due under this Note will 

be paid on each payment date by wire payment, or by check or draft mailed at least five business 

days prior to the payment date to the person in whose name this Note is registered, in any coin or 
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currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for public 

and private debts. 

Redemption.  This Note is subject to redemption and prepayment in whole or in part at 

the option of the City, subject to the consent of the Minnesota Public Facilities Authority, or 

mandatorily as provided in the Agreement.  If redemption is in part, installments of principal 

payable last under this Note shall be prepaid first, unless the City and the holder of this Note 

agree to a different result. 

Purpose; General Obligation.  This Note has been issued pursuant to and in full 

conformity with the Constitution and laws of the State of Minnesota for the purpose of providing 

money to construct improvements to the municipal sanitary sewer system (the "Sanitary Sewer 

System"), and for wastewaster treatment plant improvements to reduce phosphorus discharge 

and accommodate flows from nearby Mantorville, all as further described and detailed in the 

Minnesota Pollution Control Agency's certification dated December 21, 2017 (the "Project") and 

is payable out of the PFA Debt Service Account of the Sewer Fund of the City, to which account 

have been pledged net revenues of the Sanitary Sewer System.  This Note constitutes a general 

obligation of the City, and to provide moneys for the prompt and full payment of said principal 

installments and interest when the same become due, the full faith, credit and taxing powers of 

the City have been and are hereby irrevocably pledged. 

Registration; Transfer.  This Note shall be registered in the name of the payee on the 

books of the City by presenting this Note for registration to the Treasurer, who will endorse his 

or her name and note the date of registration opposite the name of the payee in the certificate of 

registration attached hereto.  Thereafter this Note may be transferred to a bona fide purchaser 

only by delivery with an assignment duly executed by the registered owner or the registered 

owner's legal representative, and the City may treat the registered owner as the person 

exclusively entitled to exercise all the rights and powers of an owner until this Note is presented 

with such assignment for registration of transfer, accompanied by assurance of the nature 

provided by law that the assignment is genuine and effective, and until such transfer is registered 

on said books and noted hereon by the Treasurer. 

Fees Upon Transfer or Loss.  The Treasurer may require payment of a sum sufficient to 

cover any tax or other governmental charge payable in connection with the transfer of this Note 

and any legal or unusual costs regarding transfers and lost notes. 

Bond Purchase and Project Loan Agreement with Point Source Implementation Grant.  

The terms and conditions of the Agreement are incorporated herein by reference and made a part 

hereof.  The Agreement may be attached to this Note, and shall be attached to this Note if the 

holder of this Note is any person other than the Minnesota Public Facilities Authority. 

Tax-Exempt Obligation.  The City intends that the interest on this Note will be excluded 

from gross income for United States income tax purposes or from both gross income and taxable 

net income for State of Minnesota income tax purposes. 
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Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligation.  This Note has been designated by the City as a 

"qualified tax-exempt obligation" for purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the federal Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED AND RECITED that all acts, conditions and things 

required by the Constitution and laws of the State of Minnesota to be done, to happen and to be 

performed, precedent to and in the issuance of this Note, have been done, have happened and 

have been performed, in regular and due form, time and manner as required by law; that the City 

has covenanted and agreed with the holder of this Note that it will impose and collect charges for 

the service, use and availability of and connection to the Sanitary Sewer System at the times and 

in amounts necessary to produce net revenues adequate to pay all principal and interest when due 

on this Note; and that the City will levy a direct, annual, irrepealable ad valorem tax upon all of 

the taxable property in the City, without limitation as to rate or amount, for the years and in 

amounts sufficient to pay, along with other pledged revenues, the installments of principal and 

interest on this Note as they respectively become due; and that this Note, together with all other 

debts of the City outstanding on the date hereof, being the date of its actual issuance and 

delivery, does not exceed any constitutional or statutory limitation of indebtedness. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Kasson, Dodge County, Minnesota, by its City 

Council has caused this Note to be executed on its behalf by the signatures of its Mayor and of 

its Clerk, and the corporate seal of the City having been intentionally omitted as permitted by 

law, all as of  (do not date)  , 2018. 

CITY OF KASSON, DODGE COUNTY, 

MINNESOTA 

(do not sign)                                              

Mayor 

(do not sign)                                             

Clerk 
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CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION 

The transfer of ownership of the principal amount of the attached Note may be made only 

by the registered owner or his, her or its legal representative last noted below. 

DATE OF 

REGISTRATION 

  

REGISTERED OWNER 

 SIGNATURE OF 

TREASURER 

 

 

 

(do not date) 

 Minnesota Public Facilities Authority 

Saint Paul, Minnesota 

Federal Employer Identification 

No. 41-6007162 

  

 

 

(do not sign) 
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7. Execution.  The Note shall be executed on behalf of the City by the signatures of 

its Mayor and Clerk; the seal of the City has been intentionally omitted as permitted by law.  In 

the event of disability or resignation or other absence of either such officer, the Note may be 

signed by the manual signature of that officer who may act on behalf of such absent or disabled 

officer.  In case either such officer whose signature shall appear on the Note shall cease to be 

such officer before the delivery of the Note, such signature shall nevertheless be valid and 

sufficient for all purposes, the same as if such officer had remained in office until delivery. 

8. Delivery; Application of Proceeds.  The Note when so prepared and executed 

shall be delivered by the Treasurer to the purchaser thereof prior to disbursements pursuant to the 

Agreement, and the purchaser shall not be obliged to see to the proper application thereof. 

9. Fund and Accounts.  There has heretofore been created a separate fund in the City 

treasury designated the Sewer Fund (the "Fund").  The Clerk and all municipal officials and 

employees concerned therewith shall maintain financial records of the receipts and 

disbursements of the Sanitary Sewer System in accordance with the resolutions establishing the 

Fund.  The Operation and Maintenance Account heretofore established by the City for the 

Sanitary Sewer System shall continue to be maintained in the manner heretofore provided by the 

City.  All moneys remaining after paying or providing for the items set forth in the resolution 

establishing the Operation and Maintenance Account shall constitute and are referred to as "net 

revenues" until the Note has have been paid.  There shall be maintained in the Fund the 

following accounts: 

(a) A "PFA Construction Account", to which shall be credited all proceeds 

received from the sale of the Note.  The Note shall be the only source of moneys credited 

to the PFA Construction Account.  It is recognized that the sale proceeds of the Note are 

received (i) in reimbursement for costs expended on the Project or in direct payment of 

such costs and (ii) for the refunding of the Temporary Note on the Call Date; and that 

accordingly the moneys need not be placed in the PFA Construction Account upon 

receipt but may be applied immediately to reimburse the source from which the 

expenditure was made.  The moneys in the PFA Construction Account shall be used 

solely for the purpose of paying for the cost of the Refunding and the Project, including 

all costs enumerated in Minnesota Statutes, Section 475.65, provided that such moneys 

shall only be expended for costs and expenses which are permitted under the Agreement.  

The PFA prohibits the use of proceeds of the Note to reimburse costs initially paid from 

proceeds of other obligations of the City unless otherwise specifically approved, which 

have been approved by the PFA for the Refunding.  Upon completion of the Project and 

the payment of the costs thereof, any surplus shall be transferred to the PFA Debt Service 

Account. 

(b) A "PFA Debt Service Account", to which shall be irrevocably 

appropriated, pledged and credited:  (i) net revenues of the Sanitary Sewer System in an 

amount sufficient to pay the principal of, and interest on, the Note when due; (ii) any 

balance remaining after the Call Date, in the Temporary Note Debt Service Account 

created by the Prior Resolution; (iii) any collections of all taxes which may hereafter be 

levied for the payment of the Note in the event that the net revenues of the Sanitary 

Sewer System and other funds herein pledged to the payment of the principal and interest 
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on the Note are insufficient therefor; (iv) all investment earnings on moneys held in the 

PFA Debt Service Account; (v) any amounts transferred from the PFA Construction 

Account; and (vi) any other moneys which are properly available and are appropriated by 

the City Council to the PFA Debt Service Account.  The moneys in the PFA Debt Service 

Account shall be used only to pay or prepay the principal of, and interest on, the Note and 

any other general obligation bonds hereafter issued and made payable from the PFA Debt 

Service Account, and to pay any rebate due to the United States with respect to the PFA 

Bonds in connection with the Note. 

No portion of the proceeds of the Note shall be used directly or indirectly to acquire 

higher yielding investments or to replace funds which were used directly or indirectly to acquire 

higher yielding investments, except (1) for a reasonable temporary period until such proceeds are 

needed for the purpose for which the Note was issued, and (2) in addition to the above in an 

amount not greater than the lesser of five percent of the proceeds of the Note or $100,000.  To 

this effect, any proceeds of the Note or any sums from time to time held in the PFA Construction 

Account, Operation and Maintenance Account or PFA Debt Service Account (or any other City 

account which will be used to pay principal or interest to become due on the Note) in excess of 

amounts which under then applicable federal arbitrage regulations may be invested without 

regard to yield shall not be invested at a yield in excess of the applicable yield restrictions 

imposed by said arbitrage regulations on such investments after taking into account any 

applicable "temporary periods" or "minor portion" made available under the federal arbitrage 

regulations.  In addition, moneys in the Fund shall not be invested in obligations or deposits 

issued by, guaranteed by or insured by the United States or any agency or instrumentality thereof 

if and to the extent that such investment would cause the Note to be "federally guaranteed" 

within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the federal Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 

(the "Code"). 

The City shall observe the covenants of paragraphs 18, 19 and 20 of this resolution and of 

Article III of the Agreement with regard to the Fund. 

10. Coverage Test; Pledge of Net Revenues; Excess Revenues.  It is hereby found, 

determined and declared that the net revenues of the Sanitary Sewer System are sufficient in 

amount to pay when due the principal of and interest on the Note and a sum at least five percent 

in excess thereof.  It is hereby found, determined and declared that the net revenues of the 

Sanitary Sewer System are sufficient in amount to pay when due the principal of interest on the 

Outstanding Sewer Bonds and a sum at least five percent in excess thereof.  It is hereby found, 

determined and declared that the net revenues of the System are sufficient in amount to pay when 

due the principal of interest on the Outstanding Utility Bonds and a sum at least five percent in 

excess thereof.  It is hereby found, determined and declared that the net revenues of the Water 

System and the Sanitary Sewer System are sufficient in amount to pay when due the principal of 

interest on the Outstanding Sewer and Water Bonds and a sum at least five percent in excess 

thereof.  The net revenues of the Sanitary Sewer System are hereby pledged for the payment of 

the Note on a parity lien with the Outstanding Sewer Bonds, the Outstanding Utility Bonds and 

the Outstanding Sewer and Water Bonds and shall be applied for that purpose, but solely to the 

extent required to meet the principal and interest requirements of the Note as the same become 

due.  Excess net revenues may be used for any proper purpose.  Nothing contained herein shall 

be deemed to preclude the City from making further pledges and appropriations of the net 
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revenues of the Sanitary Sewer System for the payment of other or additional obligations of the 

City, provided that it has first been determined by the City Council that estimated net revenues of 

the Sanitary Sewer System will be sufficient, in addition to all other sources, for the payment of 

the Note and such additional obligations, and any such pledge and appropriation of net revenues 

may be made superior or subordinate to, or on a parity with, the pledge and appropriation herein. 

Net revenues in excess of those required for the foregoing may be used for any proper purpose. 

11. Pledge to Produce Revenues.  In accordance with Minnesota Statutes, 

Section 444.075, the City hereby covenants and agrees with the holder of the Note that it will 

impose and collect charges for the service, use and availability of and connection to the Sanitary 

Sewer System at the times and in the amounts required to produce net revenues adequate to pay, 

together with other pledged sums, all principal and interest when due on the Note.  However, 

nothing herein shall preclude the City from levying taxes for the payment of the Note as 

permitted by Minnesota Statutes, Section 115.46. 

12. General Obligation Pledge.  The full faith, credit and taxing powers of the City 

shall be, and are hereby, irrevocably pledged for the prompt and full payment of the principal 

and interest on the Note as the same respectively become due.  If the net revenues of the Sanitary 

Sewer System appropriated and pledged to the payment of principal and interest on the Note, 

together with other funds irrevocably appropriated to the PFA Debt Service Account, shall at any 

time be insufficient to pay such principal and interest when due, the City covenants and agrees to 

levy, without limitation as to rate or amount, an ad valorem tax upon all taxable property in the 

City sufficient to pay such principal and interest as they become due.  If the balance in the PFA 

Debt Service Account is ever insufficient to pay all principal and interest then due on the Note 

and any other obligations payable therefrom, the deficiency shall be promptly paid out of any 

other funds of the City which are available for such purpose, and such other funds may be 

reimbursed, with or without interest, from the PFA Debt Service Account when a sufficient 

balance is available therein. 

13. Certificate of Registration.  The Clerk is hereby directed to file a certified copy of 

this resolution with the County Auditor of Dodge County, Minnesota, together with such other 

information as such County Auditor shall require, and to obtain from such County Auditor a 

County Auditor's certificate that the Note has been entered in the County Auditor's Bond 

Register for the County. 

14. Agreement.  The Agreement is hereby approved in substantially the form 

presented to the City Council, and in the form executed is hereby incorporated by reference and 

made a part of this resolution.  Each and all of the provisions of this resolution relating to the 

Note are intended to be consistent with the provisions of the Agreement, and to the extent that 

any provision in the Agreement is in conflict with this resolution as it relates to the Note, that 

provision shall control and this resolution shall be deemed accordingly modified.  The Mayor 

and Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to execute the Agreement.  The execution of the 

Agreement by the appropriate officers shall be conclusive evidence of the approval of the 

Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof.  The Agreement may be attached to the Note, 

and shall be attached to the Note if the holder of the Note is any person other than the PFA. 
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15. Records and Certificates.  The officers of the City are hereby authorized and 

directed to prepare and furnish to the PFA, and to the attorneys approving the legality of the 

issuance of the Note, certified copies of all proceedings and records of the City relating to the 

Note and to the financial condition and affairs of the City, and such other affidavits, certificates 

and information as are required to show the facts relating to the legality and marketability of the 

Note as the same appear from the books and records under their custody and control or as 

otherwise known to them, and all such certified copies, certificates and affidavits, including any 

heretofore furnished, shall be deemed representations of the City as to the facts recited therein. 

16. Payment of the Temporary Note; Notice of Call for Redemption.  The Temporary 

Note will be paid on the Call Date.  The City Council hereby ratifies and affirms the actions of 

the City Clerk in causing a Notice of Call for Redemption of the Temporary Note to be delivered 

to the paying agent and the owner of the Temporary Note to call the Temporary Note for 

redemption on the Call Date as required by the Prior Resolution. 

17. Temporary Note; Security.  Until retirement of the Temporary Note, all 

provisions theretofore made for the security thereof shall be observed by the City and all of its 

officers and agents. 

18. Negative Covenants as to Use of Proceeds and Project.  The City hereby 

covenants not to use the proceeds of the Note or to use the Project, or to cause or permit them to 

be used, or to enter into any deferred payment arrangements for the cost of the Project, in such a 

manner as to cause the Note to be a "private activity bond" within the meaning of Sections 103 

and 141 through 150 of the Code.  The City reasonably expects that no actions will be taken over 

the term of the Note that would cause it to be a private activity bond, and the average term of the 

Note is not longer than reasonably necessary for the governmental purpose of the issue.  The 

City hereby covenants not to use the proceeds of the Note in such a manner as to cause the Note 

to be a "hedge bond" within the meaning of Section 149(g) of the Code. 

The City hereby covenants not to use the proceeds of the Note or to use the Project, or to 

cause or permit them to be used, or to enter into any deferred payment arrangement for the cost 

of the Project, in such a manner as to cause the PFA Bonds to be "private activity bonds" within 

the meaning of Sections 103 and 141 through 150 of the Code.  The City reasonably expects that 

it will take no actions over the term of the Note that would cause the PFA Bonds to be private 

activity bonds, and the average term of the Note is not longer than reasonably necessary for its 

governmental purpose. 

19. Tax-Exempt Status of the Note; Rebate.  The City shall comply with requirements 

necessary under the Code to establish and maintain the exclusion from gross income under 

Section 103 of the Code of the interest on the Note, including without limitation (a) requirements 

relating to temporary periods for investments, (b) limitations on amounts invested at a yield 

greater than the yield on the Note, and (c) the rebate of excess investment earnings to the United 

States if the Note (together with other obligations reasonably expected to be issued and 

outstanding at one time in this calendar year) exceeds the small-issuer exception amount of 

$5,000,000. 
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For purposes of qualifying for the exception to the federal arbitrage rebate requirements 

for governmental units issuing $5,000,000 or less of bonds, the City hereby finds, determines and 

declares that: 

(a) the Note is issued by a governmental unit with general taxing powers; 

(b) the Note is not a private activity bond; 

(c) ninety-five percent or more of the net proceeds of the Note are to be used 

for local governmental activities of the City (or of a governmental unit the jurisdiction of 

which is entirely within the jurisdiction of the City);and 

(d) the aggregate face amount of all tax-exempt bonds (other than private 

activity bonds) issued by the City (and all subordinate entities thereof, and all entities 

treated as one issuer with the City) during the calendar year in which the Note is issued 

and outstanding at one time is not reasonably expected to exceed $5,000,000, all within 

the meaning of Section 148(f)(4)(D) of the Code. 

Furthermore: 

(e) there shall not be taken into account for purposes of said $5,000,000 limit 

any bond issued to refund (other than to advance refund) any bond to the extent the 

amount of the refunding bond does not exceed the outstanding amount of the refunded 

bond; 

(f) the aggregate face amount of the Note does not exceed $5,000,000; 

(g) the Temporary Note was issued as part of an issue which was treated as 

meeting the rebate requirements by reason of the exception for governmental units 

issuing $5,000,000 or less of bonds; and 

(h) no part of the Note has a maturity date which is later than the date which is 

thirty years after the date the Temporary Note was issued. 

20. Tax-Exempt  Status of the PFA Bonds; Rebate.  The City with respect to the Note 

shall comply with requirements necessary under the Code to establish and maintain the exclusion 

from gross income under Section 103 of the Code of the interest on the PFA Bonds, including 

without limitation (a) requirements relating to temporary periods for investments, (b) limitations 

on amounts invested at a yield greater than the yield on the PFA Bonds, and (c) the rebate of 

excess investment earnings to the United States.  The City covenants and agrees with the PFA 

and holders of the Note that the investments of proceeds of the Note, including the investment of 

any revenues pledged to the Note which are considered gross proceeds of the PFA Bonds under 

the applicable regulations, and accumulated sinking funds, if any, shall be limited as to amount 

and yield in such manner that the PFA Bonds shall not be arbitrage bonds within the meaning of 

Section 148 of the Code and any regulations thereunder.  On the basis of the existing facts, 

estimates and circumstances, including the foregoing findings and covenants, the City hereby 

certifies that it is not expected that the proceeds of the Note will be used in such manner as to 

cause the PFA Bonds to be arbitrage bonds under Section 148 of the Code and any regulations 
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thereunder.  The Mayor and Clerk shall furnish a certificate to the PFA embracing or based on 

the foregoing certification at the time of delivery of the Note to the PFA.  The proceeds of the 

Note will likewise be used in such manner that the Note is not a private activity bond under 

Section 103(b) of the Code. 

21. Designation of Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligation.  In order to qualify the Note as 

a "qualified tax-exempt obligation" within the meaning of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code, the 

City hereby makes the following factual statements and representations: 

(a) the Note is issued after August 7, 1986; 

(b) the Note is not a "private activity bond" as defined in Section 141 of the 

Code; 

(c) the City hereby designates the Note as a "qualified tax-exempt obligation" 

for purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code; 

(d) the reasonably anticipated amount of tax-exempt obligations (other than 

private activity bonds, treating qualified 501(c)(3) bonds as not being private activity 

bonds) which will be issued by the City (and all entities treated as one issuer with the 

City, and all subordinate entities whose obligations are treated as issued by the City) 

during this calendar year 2018 will not exceed $10,000,000; 

(e) not more than $10,000,000 of obligations issued by the City during this 

calendar year 2018 have been designated for purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code; 

and 

(f) the aggregate face amount of the Note does not exceed $10,000,000; 

Furthermore: 

(g) the Temporary Note was designated as a “qualified tax exempt obligation” 

for purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code; 

(h) no part of the Note has a maturity date which is later than the date which is 

thirty years after the date the Temporary Note was issued; and 

(i) the refunding proceeds of the Note is issued to refund, and not to "advance 

refund" the Temporary Note within the meaning of Section 149(d)(5) of the Code, and 

shall not be taken into account under the $10,000,000 issuance limit to the extent the 

Note does not exceed the outstanding amount of the Temporary Note. 

The City shall use its best efforts to comply with any federal procedural requirements which may 

apply in order to effectuate the designation made by this paragraph. 

22. Severability.  If any section, paragraph or provision of this resolution shall be held 

to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, 

paragraph or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this resolution. 



10520837v1 

 

 

 15 
 

23. Headings.  Headings in this resolution are included for convenience of reference 

only and are not a part hereof, and shall not limit or define the meaning of any provision hereof. 
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The motion for the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly seconded by member 

________________ and, after full discussion thereof and upon a vote being taken thereon, the 

following voted in favor thereof: 

and the following voted against the same: 

Whereupon the resolution was declared duly passed and adopted. 
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STATE OF MINNESOTA 

COUNTY OF DODGE 

CITY OF KASSON 

I, the undersigned, being the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the City of Kasson, 

Minnesota do hereby certify that I have compared the attached and foregoing extract of minutes 

with the original thereof on file in my office, and that the same is a full, true and complete 

transcript of the minutes of a meeting of the City Council, duly called and held on the date 

therein indicated, insofar as such minutes relate to the $2,875,500 General Obligation Sewer 

Revenue Note of 2018. 

WITNESS my hand and City's seal on February 14, 2018. 

____________________________________ 

Clerk 

(SEAL) 
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AGREEMENT RELATING TO  

THE OLD STONE WATER TOWER 

 

 THIS AGREEMENT is made this ___  day of ___________, 2018, between the 

City of Kasson, a Minnesota municipal corporation, (hereinafter referred to as the "City"), 

and the Dodge County Historical Society, a Minnesota non-profit corporation, (hereinafter 

referred to as the "DCHS").   

 WHEREAS, on June 1, 1997, the above parties entered into an Agreement relating 

to the Old Stone Water Tower; and 

WHEREAS, the Old Stone Water Tower is located on City-owned property located 

at the southeast corner of  2nd Street NW and 4th Avenue NW, a legal description of 

which property is described on the attached Exhibit #1; and 

 WHEREAS, the parties agree to terminate the 1997 Agreement with the signing of 

this Agreement;  

 THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE TO THE FOLLOWING: 

 1. To safeguard the Old Stone Water Tower’s status on the National Register 

of Historic Places, the City agrees to consult with the Minnesota State Historic 

Preservation Office before beginning any preservation, rehabilitation, restoration, or 

reconstruction work on the Old Stone Water Tower.  

2. As of January 17, 2018, the DCHS holds in trust for the restoration and 

future upkeep of the Old Stone Water Tower funds in the approximate amount of 

$11,000.00. Those funds shall be earmarked SOLELY a) for the use of the restoration and 

upkeep of the Old Stone Water Tower by the City, and b) for the creation and installation 

of a historic marker for the Old Stone Water Tower.  Upon execution of this Agreement, 

the DCHS shall provide the City a copy of the January 2018 bank statement showing the 

actual remaining amount of funds it holds in trust for the benefit of the Old Stone Water 

Tower. For each subsequent quarter that there remains a balance in that account, the DCHS 

shall provide the City a copy of the bank statements and all documentation of how any 

such remaining funds were spent during that quarter. Upon the City’s presentation to the 

DCHS of a plan for restoration of the Old Stone Water Tower, the DCHS agrees to 

reimburse the City for 100% from the remaining funds.  
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3.  A historic marker for the Old Stone Water Tower will be paid for from the 

funds held in trust by the DCHS and installed on the Old Stone Water Tower property by 

August 1, 2018. (The Kasson City Council may grant DCHS an extension to accommodate 

the manufacturer’s schedule.) The historic marker shall be created by one of the companies 

specializing in historical marker design and creation listed in the Minnesota Historical 

Society Preservation Specialist Directory. The Kasson City Council retains the final right 

of approval of the size, appearance and language of the historic marker prior to its creation, 

and retains the final right of approval over the location and placement of the marker.  

 4. The DCHS states that the only structural artifact of the Old Stone Water 

Tower in its possession is a shutter.  The shutter shall remain the property of the DCHS.  

 5. The DCHS may, upon approval of the Kasson City Council, provide 

interpretive programs for the Old Stone Water Tower.  The DCHS shall assume all risks 

associated with providing such programs and each party shall provide proof of insurance to 

the other prior to the event.  Should the City ask the DCHS to provide programming at the 

Old Stone Water Tower, each party shall provide proof of its own insurance to the other 

party prior to the event. DCHS shall provide a certificate of insurance to the City of 

Kasson on an annual basis.  

 6. Neither the DCHS nor its members or agents shall make any improvements 

to or perform any landscaping on the Old Stone Water Tower property without the prior 

written consent of the Kasson City Council.  

 7. This Agreement relating to the Old Stone Water Tower constitutes the 

entire agreement between the parties and shall be governed by the laws of the State of 

Minnesota. 

 8. All notices required herein shall be in writing and delivered personally or 

mailed to the addresses shown below and if mailed, are effective as of the date of mailing; 

 

Kasson City Administrator   Dodge County Historical Society 

Kasson City Hall    P.O. Box 456  

401 5th Street SE   615 N. Main  

Kasson, MN 55944   Mantorville, MN 55955 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Agreement relating 

to the Old Stone Water Tower on the day and year first above written. 

  

     CITY OF KASSON 

    

     ______________________________________ 

     Chris McKern, Mayor 

 

     ______________________________________ 

     Theresa Coleman, City Administrator    

 

STATE OF MINNESOTA ) 

    )ss. 

COUNTY OF DODGE  ) 

 

 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of 

____________, 2018, by Chris McKern and Theresa Coleman, the Mayor and City 

Administrator of the City of Kasson, a municipal corporation under the laws of the State of 

Minnesota on behalf of the City. 

 

     ______________________________________ 

     Notary Public 

 

 

 

DODGE COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY 

    

     ______________________________________ 

     Coy Borgstrom, President 

 

     ______________________________________ 

     Donald Westfall, Executive Director    

      

STATE OF MINNESOTA ) 

    )ss. 

COUNTY OF DODGE  ) 

 

 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of 

____________, 2018, by _________________ and _________________________, as 

agents and officers of the Dodge County Historical Society, a Minnesota Non-Profit 

Corporation. 

 

     ______________________________________ 

     Notary Public 

 

















  

 

Kasson Fire Department 
Fire - Rescue - EMS   -  101 E. Main Street   -   Kasson, MN  55944 

The mission of Kasson Fire Department is to provide life safety and hazard response to the citizens and visitors of the community we serve, in a 
safe, professional and ethical manner. Our focus will be to actively engage in prevention, public education, risk management, emergency 

response, code enforcement, fire investigation and professional development. 

     
  02/09/2018 

0900 HRS 
Kasson Fire Department 
101 E Main St 
Kasson, MN  55944 
 
Subject: Staffing reinstatement ( Probationary Firefighter )  
 
Staff: Juan Menchaca 

 
 

City of Kasson 
401 5

th
 ST SE 

Kasson, MN  55944 
Attn: City Administrator & Mayor 

 
 

Ms. Coleman ( Theresa ) & Mr. McKern ( Chris ) 
 
As Fire Chief of the Kasson Fire Dept it is my duty and charge to establish and maintain a volunteer / paid-on-call 
workforce of well educated, proficient, and engaged individuals, so-as-to enable timely response to “calls for 
assistance” within the City of Kasson, our Fire District, and our surrounding communities.  
  
As you may recall one of our probationary staff member – Mr. Menchaca ( Juan ), had to step away from Kasson Fire 
Department for a period of time – do to challenges associated in securing MN firefighter certifications.   
 
Recently Mr. Menchaca (Juan), engaged me as to the possibility of re-joining the team.  In the time he has been away 
from Kasson Fire Department, he has of his own accord, time, and at personal financial expense successfully secured 
MN credentialing of Firefighter I & II.     
  
I am quite pleased with the personal efforts of Mr. Menchaca (Juan) and of the opinion that with his certifications in 
place, he would most certainly pick-up where he left off – being a strong team player and valued asset of Kasson Fire 
Department and the community we serve – if given the opportunity to do so. 
  
Additionally I would offer feedback from the Officers of Kasson Fire Department. When asked to offer comment on 
Mr. Menchaca (Juan) and the matter of proposed reinstatement as a probationary firefighter – they shared the 
following.  
  

 Pride while knowing the limits of your abilities, dedication, perseverance, coping with adversity, and the 
willingness to put yourself in harm’s way in the service of others. These are personal characteristics which 
I hold is the highest esteem. These characteristics have been demonstrated by Juan.  

 
 I’m confident that bringing Juan back to the fire department - he will be an asset. 

 
 Juan has much to offer to our Department and Community, and can be a role model for those within our 

community. 
 

 In some sense he has more desire to be a Fire Fighter than individuals that are on the department right 
now. 

  
 
 



  

 

Kasson Fire Department 
Fire - Rescue - EMS   -  101 E. Main Street   -   Kasson, MN  55944 

The mission of Kasson Fire Department is to provide life safety and hazard response to the citizens and visitors of the community we serve, in a 
safe, professional and ethical manner. Our focus will be to actively engage in prevention, public education, risk management, emergency 

response, code enforcement, fire investigation and professional development. 

 
 
 
Based on the above provided information - I am respectfully asking the Kasson City Council to reinstate Mr. Juan 
Menchaca, as a probationary firefighter with Kasson Fire Department. 
 
(( Note - Mr. Menchaca (Juan) to serve a probation period unit JAN 2019, assessment that that time as to his future 
status ))  
 
 
 
Should you have any questions – please feel free to contact me @ 507-421-0040  
 
Respectfully  

 
Joe Fitch - Fire Chief 
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“OUR GREATEST 
CHALLENGES ARE 

DEALING WITH 
COMPLEXITY IN THE 

ELECTRIC INDUSTRY AND 
MAKING IT AFFORDABLE. 

IF WE HAD TO HIRE 
THIS EXPERTISE ALONE, 

IT WOULD BE COST 

PROHIBITIVE.”

-WENDY MEYER, CHAIR
OF THE BOARD 2015-16

ON AGENCY 
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Sincerely,

Steve Thompson
Chief Executive Officer

CMMPA

LETTER FROM

OUR CEO

If you watch a plant grow, you’ll hardly notice its transformation as time goes by. However, if you check on it

once and don’t return for quite a while, you’ll notice it has undergone a remarkable change.

The same can be said about CMMPA. We, along with our members, have changed substantially over the past

year, but it is not until we look back and reflect on those changes that it becomes apparent how far we have come.

2016 was a great year for CMMPA, its members and the communities they serve. Some of the many things we
accomplished together include:

•	 Maintaining a competitive edge by actively reducing costs for CMMPA members, who experience the lowest 

quartile of costs when compared to other municipal power agencies in a five-state region.

•	 Posting a 1.72 percent energy savings for members who participate in CMMPA’s Conservation and Energy 

Efficiency program.

•	 Launching a Retail Community Solar Program, which is set to bring cost-efficient and scalable solar energy to 

multiple communities.

With the strategies undertaken by our team and the hard work of our members, 2016 was a year of success and

notable achievements. We want to thank our employees, members, and all the communities we serve together.

In 2003, when a neighboring investor-owned utility reduced its long-term contractual obligation with many

municipal utilities, CMMPA began the long, rigorous process of developing long-term power supply portfolios for

each of its members. Every year since, we have succeeded in working with members to minimize their wholesale

power costs and manage future risks to best serve their municipal customers.

We look forward to what we can make happen in 2017 as we roll-out a community solar project and continue 

exploring better energy investments and growth opportunities for both CMMPA and its members.
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ABOUT
OUR COMPANY

Serve in a consultative role as 
a municipal electricity portfolio 
adviser by offering specialized 
planning and procurement 
services for power supply
and transmission.

Deliver unbiased, 
independent portfolio system 
solutions as a municipal 
utility’s fiduciary and strategic 
adviser to best serve their 
municipal customers.

VISION

Identify strategies that 
minimize wholesale power 
costs, manage future risks, and 
maintain stable and competitive 
rates while allowing utility 
boards flexibility and autonomy 
to customize their own 
electricity portfolio.

MISSION COMMITMENT

Central Minnesota Municipal Power Agency (CMMPA) serves as a municipal, non-profit,

project-based, partial or full-requirements joint power agency. CMMPA formed a utility

services agent, Central Municipal Power Agency and Services (CMPAS), to provide

energy management and consulting services to public power members and affiliates.

CMPAS provides a wide range of services including strategic management, long-term

power supply planning and procurement, project development and administration,

accounting and finance. The Agency also offers Midcontinent Independent System

Operator (MISO) market-related services, including daily energy scheduling and

transmission services. CMPAS’s specialized expertise in long-term power supply

planning and energy markets is important for CMMPA’s long-term success.

MUNICIPAL COMPASS TO POWER



Theresa Coleman
Kasson, MN
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MEET OUR 

BOARD

Bob Elston
Sleepy Eye, MN

Crystal Johnson
Granite Falls, MN

Brent Brown
Windom, MN

Tim Stoner
Blue Earth, MN

Wendy Meyer
Mountain Lake, MN

CMPAS currently manages the portfolios of 12 member municipals

and provides power supply related services to non-member affiliates

in Minnesota and Iowa. With headquarters in Blue Earth, Minnesota,

the Agency is governed by a 12-member board comprised of a

representative from each member city.

David Meyer
Glencoe, MN

Joel Grejtak
Fairfax, MN

Paul Twite
Delano, MN

Nate Zimmerman
Janesville, MN

Randy Eggert
Kenyon, MN

Scott Johnson
Springfield, MN

Richard A. Heinemann
CMPAS General Counsel



OUR
MEMBERS
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Blue Earth

Kasson
Windom

Mountain Lake

Springfield
Sleepy Eye

Fairfax

Granite Falls

Janesville
Kenyon

Glencoe

Delano

	 Our Affiliates:
	
	 Cedar Falls, IA	    Montezuma, IA	       Indianola, IA	       Waverly, IA	     Independence, IA

           Eldridge, IA          Elk River, MN        Willmar, MN



2016 CMMPA 
HIGHLIGHTS

THE YEAR IN REVIEW
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A year of success and notable achievements

CMMPA’s A&G costs remain

competitive when compared

to other regional municipal

power agencies in the five

state area, despite being

one of the smaller municipal

power agencies. CMMPA

stays competitive by 

partially offsetting a portion

of its current year A&G

costs using non-traditional

revenue streams:

•	 Non-member scheduling 

fees and services. 

•	 MISO current year 

recovery of transmission 

related A & G.

COMPETITIVE EDGE

Members participating in the

CMMPA Conservation and

Energy Efficiency program

helped commercial and

residential retail customers

achieve 1.18 percent in energy

savings (3,736,871 kWh).

In addition, participating

members saved an additional

.54 percent energy savings

(1,717,113 kWh) through

improvements on the utility

side of the meter. In total,

participating members

achieved 1.72 percent in

energy savings (5,453,984 kWh).

ENERGY SAVINGS

Twenty percent of

CMMPA members’ energy

needs were provided by

either agency-sponsored

renewable resources or

member locally sourced

renewables. Additionally,

another 17 percent of

members’ energy needs

were provided from

Western Area Power

Administration (WAPA)

hydropower contracts.

ENVIRONMENTAL

CASH POSITION

CMMPA reached its 

unrestricted working cash 

goal by utilizing non-

traditional revenue sources:

•	 Excess energy sales that 

are the result of exercising 

rights from our contract 

with Xcel Energy.

•	 MISO recovery from 

our CAPX Brookings 

Regulatory Asset 

for recovery of pre-

commercial, transmission, 

and Administrative and 

General (A&G).

•	 Utilities Plus Energy 

Services (UPES)

management fees. 

This represented a $3 

million-dollar increase in the 

agency’s cash position over 

the years 2015 & 2016.
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CMMPA sold its 50 percent

ownership interest in Utilities

Plus Energy Services for $2

million. Over 16 years, CMMPA

and its members received

$2.6 million in management

fees and member rebates. In

total, CMPAS received $4.6

million in return for its $400

thousand start-up loan it

invested in the partnership.

FINANCE

CMMPA made significant

progress developing a retail

community solar project in

partnership with Southern

Minnesota Municipal Power

Agency (SMMPA). The

project has a scheduled

in-service date and rollout of

June 2017.

SOLAR PROGRAM

CMMPA members’ average 

wholesale costs continue to be in 

the lowest quartile when compared 

to the costs of other regional 

municipal power agencies in 

Minnesota, Wisconsin, Iowa, North 

Dakota, and South Dakota.

COSTS

In 2016 CMMPA 
progressed in the 
development of a 

community solar program 
that went into operation

June of 2017.
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INDUSTRY 
CHALLENGES
+ FORCES AT PLAY

When planning for CMMPA members’ future power

supply, CMPAS continuously monitors issues that

could have an impact on our members’ needs and

power costs. Some of these forces and industry

challenges include:

The Economy
We are seeing stagnant or declining load growth

resulting from a slow economic recovery and an

increase in energy efficiency improvements.

Public Energy Policy
Numerous changes in public policy could have

substantial impacts in the future:

•	 Carbon regulation

•	 Renewable mandates

•	 Renewable tax incentives

New Technologies
New disruptive technologies, such as distributed solar

generation, have the potential to significantly impact

the future.

•	 As solar installations increase, stranded fixed costs 

will place more pressure on how utilities recover 

costs in retail rate designs.

Natural Gas Market
The recent oversupply of natural gas caused by

fracking technology has reduced the cost of natural

gas to historic lows. The future of natural gas appears

optimistic; however, there are reasons to use caution

over the mid to long-term.

Changing Economics 

The economics of traditional and renewable 

generation resources is changing the composition

of tomorrow’s generation fleet. This has the potential

to affect future power supply costs and

portfolio decisions.

Reliability
Changes in the generation fleet raise reliability and 

cost concerns that include:

•	 Increasing reliance on natural gas generation.

•	 Integrating large amounts of renewables onto the 

grid that creates potential operational challenges.

•	 Implementing economic and environmental 

regulations that force the premature retirement of 

baseload plants that jeopardize regional reserve 

and capacity resource margins. 

OUR CHALLENGES



Electric Infrastructure Build Out
As utilities change their generation portfolios and build

the necessary transmission to comply with state and

federal mandates, energy capacity market and

transmission tariff costs are increasing. As new facilities

continue to go into operation, the related costs will go

into the rate base.

Market Reform Industry Challenge
Public policy is having unintended consequences. Tax

incentives for renewables are depressing market

energy prices, resulting in inadequate margins to

incent new generation to be built or retain existing

nuclear generation from retiring.

Current capacity market constructs do not provide

adequate market signals to incent or retain needed

baseload generation. If adjustments are not made to

public policies, the sustainability of the traditional utility

business model may be challenged, and the utility

sector may face future capacity shortages that result in

reliability challenges and high capacity market prices.

Structural changes are needed to the electric capacity

markets. Current capacity constructs do not reflect all

intrinsic values:

•	 Capacity/energy markets do not value the reliability 

value of fuel diversity (coal, gas, and nuclear).

•	 The capacity market does not adequately 

compensate generation for the reliability value of:

•	 Providing back-up for intermittent renewables.

•	 Deferring retirement until replacement 

generation can be placed into service.

As part of our strategic planning, CMPAS continually

monitors these issues and considers their potential

impacts on CMMPA’s future power supply decisions.

In an increasingly uncertain world, CMPAS finds itself

placing extra emphasis on identifying portfolios that

minimize cost and performing risk analysis

to determine strategies that balance low cost and

portfolio risks. Portfolio diversification and risk hedging

strategies are becoming an increasingly more

important factor in our planning.
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WHOLESALE POWER 
& RESOURCE MIX

CMPAS is looking to fix or hedge substantial shares 

of our member portfolios from 2020 to 2040, with 

a goal of having nearly 75 percent of energy needs 

addressed with long-term contracts.

09 | operations

Energy 
Information

Wholesale power and transmission costs represent

about 65 percent of our members’ total costs.

Planning for a diversified, hedged, and long-term

power supply with reasonable costs and manageable

risks is our core responsibility to members.

CMMPA is a relatively young agency, and our

members’ portfolios have evolved dramatically. Over

the course of 10 years, CMMPA evolved from an

all-requirements customer of NSP/Xcel Energy to a

utility with a diverse portfolio that is well hedged

against market, gas price, and possible carbon risks.

As a result of CMPAS Resource Planning efforts, we

have reduced member wholesale costs at a time

when other utilities’ costs have increased.

The CMMPA portfolio is well positioned against 

continued regulatory risk. Since our diversified 

portfolio of resources does not have a dominant 

generation resource, we have limited exposure to 

potential “sunk” cost issues. The Nebraska City Unit 

2 Coal Station is the only resource with exposure to 

carbon regulations. The portfolio is also conducive to 

hedging long-term risks related to fuel, transmission 

congestion, capacity prices, and regulation.

Energy- 49%
Local 

Infrastructure
33%

Transmission
13%

Agency- 4%
CIP- 1%

WAPA Hydropower

Coal

Market

Nuclear

Short -term Fixed 
Price 5x16 PPA

Renewable

Pre 2003 Energy

84%

16%

Post 2003 Energy

42%

16%

42%

Wholesale Power Costs

CMPAS      Agency 1      Agency 2      Agency 3      Agency 4

2016 Energy

31%

4%

17%
20%

16%

12%

48% Carbon Free
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THE STRATEGIC 
WHOLESALE 
MARKET PLANNING
CMPAS CONDUCTS 
FOR EACH MEMBER 
PRODUCES 
SAVINGS THAT 
POSITIONS CMMPA 
IN THE

OF POWER AGENCY 
COSTS IN THE FIVE-
STATE REGION.

LOWEST
QUARTILE
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As we focus on the future, we are developing additional services and important initiatives for members. 

Such services include Distribution Mapping and Planning Utility Service, SCADA/EMS Services, and rate 

studies for members.

The Distribution Mapping and Planning Service allows smaller utilities to do the kind of planning analysis 

that is commonly done at larger utilities. The Agency has developed a fully integrated IT System/

Database Software platform to host member system and load data in a centralized database. The 

platform will then be used for planning analysis of member infrastructure improvements, budgeting, and 

long-range capital planning.

CMPAS is also implementing SCADA/EMS Services to develop a fully integrated platform. CMPAS would

provide SCADA database administration packages where multiple cities could make use of a common 

SCADA master for collecting and archiving field data in each city. This will eventually allow us to integrate 

the SCADA/ EMS values for each member into planning and operational analysis.

UTILITY
SERVICES



A COST-EFFECTIVE COMPETITOR 
TO ROOFTOP SOLAR PANELS

INTRODUCING

Solar prices have fallen significantly over recent years.

Even though prices continue to drop, the economics

do not support putting solar into CMMPA members

wholesale portfolios. With prices declining 10 percent

per year, it is advantageous to wait.

Despite unfavorable wholesale economics, it is still

a good strategy to offer a community solar option to

retail customers. Some retail customers are showing

interest in solar for reasons that are not always driven

by economics. This interest is only going to increase

as solar prices drop and retail electric rates increase.

For these reasons, we created a sustainable

community solar program, R4 Solar, that allows

residential and commercial utility customers to

purchase subscriptions in a shared, community-based

solar resource.

Finance

Minnesota law requires electric utilities to compensate

owners of rooftop solar panels under 40 kW for solar

generation at the full retail electric rate. The practice

results in the under-recovery of the fixed costs for

the energy that a rooftop installation displaces and

overcompensates for the excess energy produced. It

also results in “stranded fixed costs” that lead to rate

cross-subsidization. As a result, non-solar customers

subsidize solar customers. With R4 Solar, customers

can sign up for a paid subscription that covers their

proportional share of the fixed costs associated with

installing an R4 Solar project in the community. In

exchange, customers receive a credit on their utility

bill for the production of their panel subscription(s).

R4 Solar subscription costs are more competitive than

those associated with rooftop panels. The program

also eliminates installation and maintenance hassles.

13 | solar power



A Solar Solution

If retail customers are demanding solar, we need

to be part of the solution. Utility-scale solar is much

more cost effective than rooftop solar. As a proactive

and defensive strategy, we should be offering retail

customers a more economical alternative to installing

rooftop solar by making utility-scale cost advantages

available to retail customers. By doing so, we will be

able to avoid the potential negative consequences of

net metering, rate cross-subsidization, and erosion of

our retail revenues.

R4 Solar accomplishes all of this by allowing municipal

utilities to sponsor small to medium sized utility-scale

solar projects for the purpose of selling solar

subscriptions to their retail customers. The subscrip-

tions cover the fixed cost of the installed panel(s), and

the cost benefits to customers appear in the form of

credits on their monthly bill, accounting for the output

of the entire solar project

 

R4 Solar gives municipal utilities the flexibility to

compensate the retail customer for the true value or

wholesale value of the solar output (versus compen-

sating at full retail value). Due to the significant cost

advantages of utility-scale solar, the retail customer

can realize a similar economic payback even when

being compensated at the lower wholesale value. 

R4 Solar is a win for the solar subscriber and a win

for non-participating rate payers because they do not

pay the “green” premium.

In an effort to gain economy of scale advantages,

CMPAS partnered with SMMPA in a utility-scale solar

project. The project entails CMMPA signing a one 

year power purchase agreement with SMMPA for 

solar energy from Owatonna, which is scheduled to 

go into operation in June of 2017.

Six out of CMMPA’s 12 members are participating in

this CMPAS-sponsored project.

The project also includes the added flexibility to install

a 4 kW “Billboard” project locally. This partnership

with SMMPA has enabled CMMPA to jumpstart a

community solar program and gain economies of

scale without prematurely locking into a 25-year

contract before test marketing with our retail

customers. It also allows us to defer settling on a

long-term price when prices are declining.
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30-YEAR LEGACY 
OF CMMPA/CMPAS

15 | our company
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POWERING A 
BRIGHTER 
FUTURE

CMMPA enjoys a strong financial position, long-term member contracts, member unity, business partnerships, and

a high-performing team. The joint-action, project-oriented agency structure provides the solid foundation for our

financial strength and performance.

As of year-end 2016, CMMPA’s net position was $12.5 million, which is $66 thousand (+0.535 percent) higher

than the $12.4 million net position for year-end 2015. For year-end December 31, 2016, CMMPA also restated

the CAPX receivable amounts. These pronouncements require the restatement of the December 31, 2015 and

December 31, 2014 net position. Restated at year-end 2015, the agency’s net position was $12.4 million, which is

$2.96 million (+31.4 percent) higher than the $9.4 million net position for 2014. The increase was mostly attributed

to transmission revenue from the CAPX project.

The average long-term wholesale power rate was approximately 6.05 cents per kilowatt-hour (kWh) in 2016

compared to 6.28 cents per KWh in 2015. The decrease is attributed to the management of our individual 

member portfolios. The focus is on resource adequacy risk management at the lowest sustainable cost. 

FINANCIAL STRENGTH

RATE STABILIZATION 
FUND

In 2016, CMMPA Board of Directors approved the

establishment of a rate stabilization account. This fund

allows the Agency to stabilize rates. The goal of

CMMPA’s rate stabilization account is to mitigate

volatile price changes to members.

UTILITIES PLUS ENERGY 
SERVICES

In 2016, CMMPA sold its 50 percent ownership

interest in UPES for $2 million. Since the year 2000, 

CMMPA and its members received $2.6 million in

management fees and member rebates. In total, 

CMMPA received $4.2 million in return for its $400 

thousand investment in the partnership.
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Power sales revenue for 2016 approximately was

$34.3 million, compared to $35.6 million in 2015.

The decrease in revenue is primarily attributed to

the establishment of a new rate stabilization reserve

in 2016 of $1.37 million.

OPERATING REVENUE

STRONG CASH POSITION

At the end of 2016, CMMPA exceeded a 2014 board

policy of two months working cash and a $1 million

project development/emergency fund with more than

$7.5 million in cash and cash equivalents. CMMPA

increased working cash through non-traditional

sources of revenue that included exercising contract

rights with Xcel Energy, CAPX Brookings Regulatory

Asset Recovery, and UPES. 

CMMPA Working Cash
in millions of dollars

CMMPA Operating Revenue
in millions of dollars
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OUR SERVICES

CMPAS will continue to focus on strategically planning for CMMPA members future generation and

transmission needs. Top priorities include:

•	 Introduce a Community Solar Program.

•	 Continue contract negotiations and development for our members.

•	 Explore future transmission investment opportunities and long-term partnerships to further hedge potential 

price increases in the MISO transmission network.

•	 Look for future growth opportunities in new member or nonmember services.

•	 Expand member services in the areas of:

•	 GIS Mapping and Distribution Electrical Modeling and Planning

•	 SCADA support services

CMMPA TRANSMISSION OWNERSHIP

CMMPA invested $35 million in the CAPX Brookings Project that was energized in 2015. The 250-mile, 345- 

kilovolt (kV) transmission line delivers power between the Brookings County Substation near Brookings, S.D. 

and the Hampton Substation south of the Twin Cities in Minnesota. The Brookings line is one of six projects 

constructed under the CapX banner, the largest transmission expansion in the Upper Midwest in more than 40 

years. In all, CapX encompasses six major projects that will develop more than 800 miles of new transmission 

facilities at the cost of approximately $2.2 billion.

CMMPA participated with 11 other regional utilities in CAPX projects that have been in the works for more than a 

decade. Transmission investment brings significant benefits to both the Agency and the participants. The Agency 

recovers all direct transmission-related costs and a portion of our Agency overhead costs through the MISO 

tariff. Our member and non-member participants earn regulated return on investment to protect against future 

transmission cost increases. Transmission ownership is the only long-term hedge against rising transmission rates.



“Transmission ownership 
is the only long-term 
hedge against increasing 
transmission rates.”
							       -STEVE THOMPSON, CEO    
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

Board of Commissioners 
Central Minnesota Municipal Power Agency 
Blue Earth, Minnesota 

Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities and each major 
fund of Central Minnesota Municipal Power Agency (CMMPA), as of and for the years ended  
December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise CMMPA’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to CMMPA’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of CMMPA’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 

Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the business-type activities and each major fund of CMMPA as of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows thereof 
for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 



Board of Commissioners 
Central Minnesota Municipal Power Agency 
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Emphasis-of-Matter Regarding a Correction of an Error 
As discussed in Note 15 to the financial statements, certain errors resulting in an understatement of 
amounts previously reported for net position as of December 31, 2014, were discovered by 
management of CMMPA during the current year. Accordingly, amounts reported for net position have 
been restated to correct the error. Our opinion is not modified with respect to that matter. 

Other Matters 
Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management 
discussion and analysis, schedule of proportionate share of the net pension liability and schedule of 
contributions, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing 
the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do 
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do 
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise CMMPA’s basic financial statements. The supplementary information, as listed in 
the table of contents, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the 
basic financial statements. 

The supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, 
the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Austin, Minnesota 
May 30, 2017 
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Corporate Structure. The Central Minnesota Municipal Power Agency (the “Agency” or “CMMPA”) is a 
municipal power agency created in 1987 pursuant to Minnesota Statutes, Sections 453.51 to 453.62. 
The Agency was established to serve the mutual needs of its members and has the power and 
authority to finance and acquire facilities for the generation and transmission of electric energy. The 
Agency is governed by a twelve-member board of directors. Each member city is entitled to have 
representation on the board of directors and all current officers were elected at the annual meeting in 
January 2016. 

Agency Members. In 2016, there were twelve Agency members, comprised of municipal utilities 
located in Minnesota that own and operate electric distribution systems. Some systems are governed 
by statutory utility commissions appointed by the respective city councils. With statutory commissions, 
the city councils retain the ultimate authority for utility decisions. Some systems are governed by a 
utility board or commission under a home rule charter or other authorization that gives the board or 
commission separate or exclusive authority for utility decisions. In 2016, the Agency’s members 
included Blue Earth, Delano, Fairfax, Glencoe, Granite Falls, Janesville, Kasson, Kenyon, Mountain 
Lake, Sleepy Eye, Springfield, and Windom. 

Legal Authority. The enabling statutes permit the Agency to undertake projects for the generation, 
production, transmission, purchase, sale, exchange, or interchange of electric energy. The Agency has 
authority to issue bonds to finance projects. Bonds issued by the Agency may be taxable or tax exempt, 
and constitute an obligation of the Agency secured by a pledge of project revenues.  

Related Entity. Central Municipal Power Agency Services (“CMPAS”) is a municipal services company 
that was created in 1998 through the joint powers agreement of CMMPA and Midwest Municipal Gas 
Agency. CMPAS assists the Agency’s members with the purchase and sale of capacity and energy on 
a short term or other basis, as requested, and arranges for transmission of such purchases and sales. 
CMMPA and CMPAS currently share management and staffing, and a common board of 
commissioners.

Overview of Financial Statements. This section provides a basic introduction to the Agency’s 
financial statements which consist of the statement of net position, statements of revenues, expenses 
and changes in net position, and statements of cash flows. The notes provide information that is 
necessary to understand the data in the financial statements. 

The statements of net position include all restricted and unrestricted assets and all liabilities of the 
Agency, with the difference reported as net position. The statements of revenues, expenses and 
changes in net position are reported on an accrual accounting basis. All the current year’s revenues 
and expenses are taken into account, regardless of when cash is received or paid. As a result, certain 
items reported as revenues and expenses in this statement will not be included in current cash flow. 
The statement of cash flows provides cash flow activities during the current year, cash and cash 
equivalents as of the beginning of the year and the end of the year, and a reconciliation of net cash. 
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2016 2015 Change

Deferred Debits 1,987,734$     2,849,748$     (862,014)$
Other Current Assets 25,152,206    22,165,293    2,986,913
Other Capital Assets, Net 30,880,778    31,696,835    (816,057)

Total Assets 58,020,718    56,711,876    1,308,842

Deferred Outflow of Resources 615,959         134,657         481,302

Current and Other Liabilities 4,517,499      4,448,059      69,440
Noncurrent Liabilities 36,537,013    37,101,518    (564,505)

Total Liabilities 41,054,512    41,549,577    (495,065)

Deferred Credits 4,985,049      2,865,049      2,120,000

Deferred Inflow of Resources 152,113         53,168           98,945

Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets 395,365         (290,906)        686,271
Restricted 1,987,734      2,974,833      (987,099)
Unrestricted 10,061,904    9,694,812      367,092

Total Net Position 12,445,003$ 12,378,739$   66,264$

TABLE 1
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

2015 2014 Change

Construction in Progress -$                    9,627,389$     (9,627,389)$
Other Capital Assets, Net 31,696,835    21,187,038    10,509,797
Deferred Debits 2,849,748      2,974,678      (124,930)
Other Current Assets 22,165,293    18,719,285    3,446,008

Total Assets 56,711,876    52,508,390    4,203,486

Deferred Outflow of Resources 134,657         -                      134,657

Current and Other Liabilities 4,448,059      4,499,145      (51,086)
Noncurrent Liabilities 37,101,518    36,249,415    852,103

Total Liabilities 41,549,577    40,748,560    801,017

Deferred Credits 2,865,049      2,342,126      522,923

Deferred Inflow of Resources 53,168           -                      53,168

Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets (290,906)        5,292,069      (5,582,975)
Restricted 2,974,833      3,099,763      (124,930)
Unrestricted 9,694,812      1,025,872      8,668,940

Total Net Position 12,378,739$ 9,417,704$     2,961,035$

TABLE 2
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
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The 2014 amounts in Table 2 were not changed for the restatement described in Note 15 of the 
financial statements. 

Project activity undertaken by CMMPA is summarized below: 

 The Agency entered into a participation power agreement with the Omaha Public Power District 
(OPPD), pursuant to which the Agency has acquired rights to receive and obligations to pay for 
2.17% of Nebraska City Power Station No. 2 (NC2). OPPD completed construction of NC2 and 
the power plant went on-line May 1, 2009. The Agency estimates that its share of the 630 MW 
coal-fired unit is approximately 14.4 MW. The Agency and ten members of CMMPA entered into 
power sales agreements pursuant to which such members are entitled to receive and obligated 
to pay for their respective pro rata shares of CMMPA’s participation share in NC2. To finance a 
portion of development costs associated with its participation in NC2, the Agency received a 
loan in the amount of $460,000 in 2005 from the Midwest Consortium of Municipal Utilities loan 
program, which has since been paid off. 

 The Agency, in 2011, acquired a 3.6% ownership interest (increased to a 4.1% interest in 2013) 
in the Capx Brookings Transmission Line, connecting Brookings, SD to the southeastern section 
of the Minneapolis/St. Paul metropolis. CMMPA is one of five parties owning an interest in the 
project. The other parties include Great River Energy, Xcel Energy, Missouri River Energy 
Services, and Otter Tail Power Company. Financing in the form of tax-exempt long-term bonds 
were issued in June of 2012 to finance CMMPA’s portion of the construction of this line. Total 
bonds issued were $32,670,000, to be paid back from the proceeds of the tariff revenue 
associated with the project that will be collected beginning in 2013 and extending for the life of 
the project. It is anticipated that the tariff revenue will more than offset the ongoing debt service 
and operational costs of this project. However, during any period in which tariff revenues do not 
offset total costs (net of reserve adjustments), the participants are committed to pay for and 
charge rates supporting any shortfalls. The participants in this project include members Blue 
Earth, Fairfax, Granite Falls, Janesville, Kenyon, Mountain Lake, Sleepy Eye, Springfield, and 
Windom. Also, participating in this project are Willmar, MN, Elk River, MN and the cities of 
Independence, Indianola, Montezuma and Waverly in Iowa. Construction of the project began in 
May of 2012 and was completed in 2015. 

The Agency must comply with Minnesota regulations that require CMMPA, as well as other electric 
companies, to include renewable resources in their portfolio of power resources. To meet initial 
renewable energy requirements, the Agency has entered into the following arrangements: 

 CMMPA is purchasing 6.25 MW of wind power for a 15-year period beginning in December 
2005 from Wolf Wind LLC. 

 CMMPA is purchasing 4.25 MW of wind power from Rugby Wind LLC for 15-year period 
beginning December 15, 2010. 

 CMMPA is purchasing 13.1 MW of wind power for a 15-year period ending in February 2027 
from Rugby Wind LLC. 

The Agency has contracts with its members to take and pay for the contracted wind power resources. 
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Net Position. As of year-end 2016, the amount of the Agency’s net position was $12,445,003, which is 
$66,264 or 0.535% higher than the amount of net position for year-end 2015 of $12,378,739. As of 
year-end 2015, the amount of the Agency’s net position was $12,378,739, which is $2,961,035 or 
31.4% higher than the amount of net position for year-end 2014 of $9,417,704.  The increase was 
mostly attributable to transmission revenue from the CapX project, and the restatement further 
described in Note 15. 

The Agency’s unrestricted assets for the years ending 2016 and 2015 were comprised of cash, cash 
equivalents, and accounts receivable associated with sales of electricity to members and non-members 
as well as certain other member services. The Agency’s unrestricted liabilities for the years ended 2016 
and 2015 were associated with accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and other payables, also 
associated with sales of electricity to both members and non-members and other member services. 

2016 2015 Change

Total Operating Revenues 34,268,635$   35,619,598$   (1,350,963)$

Operating Expenses
Purchased Power and Transmission 31,059,885    31,265,335    (205,450)
General and Administrative 3,206,123      2,284,585      921,538
Depreciation and Amortization 1,813,019      1,694,059      118,960

Total Operating Expenses 36,079,027    35,243,979    835,048

Nonoperating Income 1,876,656      1,441,504      435,152

Change in Net Position 66,264           1,817,123      (1,750,859)

Net Position, Beginning of Year, 
As Previously Stated 12,378,739    8,561,944      3,816,795

Prior Period Adjustment -                     1,999,672      (1,999,672)
Net Position - Beginning of Year, as Restated 12,378,739    10,561,616    1,817,123

Net Position, End of Year 12,445,003$   12,378,739$   66,264$

TABLE 3
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
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2015 2014 Change

Total Operating Revenues 35,619,598$   32,347,947$   3,271,651$

Operating Expenses
Purchased Power and Transmission 31,265,335    31,325,427    (60,092)
General and Administrative 2,284,585      1,570,260      714,325
Depreciation 1,694,059      500,700         1,193,359

Total Operating Expenses 35,243,979    33,396,387    1,847,592

Nonoperating Income 1,441,504      1,494,347      (52,843)

Change in Net Position 1,817,123      445,907         1,371,216

Net Position, Beginning of Year
As Previously Stated 8,561,944      8,971,797      (409,853)

Prior Period Adjustment 1,999,672      -                      1,999,672
Net Position - Beginning of Year, as Restated 10,561,616    8,971,797      1,589,819

Net Position, End of Year 12,378,739$   9,417,704$     2,961,035$

TABLE 4
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

The 2014 amounts in Table 4 were not changed for the restatement described in Note 15 of the 
financial statements. Also included in net position at 1/1/2015, as previously stated, is $855,760 from 
the adoption of GASB Statement No. 68 and No. 71 in 2015. 

Revenues and Expenses. The Agency’s operating revenues from power sales to members and 
nonmembers totaled $34,268,635 and $35,619,598 at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
Revenues from the Agency’s operation decreased $1,350,963 from fiscal year 2016 to 2015. The 
decrease is primarily attributed to the establishment of a new rate stabilization reserve in 2016 of 
$1,370,000. Operating expenses for the years ending 2016 and 2015 were $36,079,027 and 
$35,243,979 respectively. The expenses increased $835,048 or 2.31% from 2016 to 2015 due to 
increased depreciation and A&G expenses. 

As of year-end 2015, the amount of the Agency’s net position was $12,378,739, which is $2,961,035 or 
31.4% higher than the amount of net position for year-end 2014 of $9,417,704.  The increase was 
mostly attributable to transmission revenue from the CapX project, and the restatement further 
described in Note 15. Operating expenses for the years ending 2015 and 2014 were $35,243,979 and 
$33,396,387 respectively. The expenses increased $1,847,597 or 5.24% from 2014 to 2015 due to 
increased depreciation, amortization and A&G expenses. 

Contact Information 
This annual report is designed to provide a general overview of CMMPA finances for citizens, 
customers and others. Questions concerning any of the information contained in this report and 
requests for additional information should be directed to the Agency by mail at 459 So. Grove, Blue 
Earth, MN 56013, or by phone at (763) 710-3960. 
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CMMPA Nebraska CapX Entity-Wide
Operations City Power Initiative Total Eliminations Total

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents 7,510,408$     -$                   -$                   7,510,408$    -$                    7,510,408$
Restricted Cash and Cash
  Equivalents 1,557,955 534,595 10,412,713 12,505,263 -                      12,505,263   
Accounts Receivable 4,533,732 -                    403,385 4,937,117     -                      4,937,117     
Due from Other Funds -                      309,316        4,016,653     4,325,969     (4,325,969)      -                    
Interest Receivable 1,885              -                    -                    1,885            -                      1,885            
Prepaid Expenses and Other
  Current Assets 53,814            -                    -                    53,814          -                      53,814          

Total Current Assets 13,657,794     843,911        14,832,751   29,334,456   (4,325,969)      25,008,487   

OTHER ASSETS

Investments - Certificate of Deposit 143,719          -                    -                    143,719        -                      143,719        
Total Other Assets 143,719          -                    -                    143,719        -                      143,719        

DEFERRED DEBIT -                      281,101        1,706,633     1,987,734     -                      1,987,734     

CAPITAL ASSETS
Non-Depreciable:

Land 15,622            -                    -                    15,622          -                      15,622          
Construction in Progress: 
  Website -                      -                    -                    -                    -                      -                    
  Power Projects -                      -                    -                    -                    -                      -                    

Depreciable, Net 679,223          -                    30,185,933   30,865,156   -                      30,865,156   
Total Capital Assets 694,845          -                      30,185,933     30,880,778     -                      30,880,778     

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension Related 615,959 -                    -                    615,959        -                      615,959        

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 2,275,327       -                    15,200          2,290,527     -                      2,290,527     
Due to Other Funds 4,325,969       -                    -                    4,325,969     (4,325,969)      -                    
Accrued Liabilities and Other
  Payables 1,374,301       -                    59,046          1,433,347     -                      1,433,347     
Interest Payable -                      -                    793,625        793,625        -                      793,625        

Total Current Liabilities 7,975,597       -                    867,871        8,843,468     (4,325,969)      4,517,499     

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Net Pension Liability 1,477,750 -                    -                    1,477,750     -                      1,477,750     
Bonds Payable - Current and 
Noncurrent -                      -                    35,059,263   35,059,263   -                      35,059,263   

Total Liabilities 9,453,347       -                    35,927,134   45,380,481   (4,325,969)      41,054,512   

DEFERRED CREDIT 1,370,000 534,595 3,080,454     4,985,049     -                      4,985,049     

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension Related 152,113 -                    -                    152,113        -                      152,113        

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 694,845          -                    (299,480)       395,365        -                      395,365        
Restricted for Participation in 
Power Projects -                      281,101        1,706,633     1,987,734     -                      1,987,734     
Unrestricted 3,442,012       309,316        6,310,576     10,061,904   -                      10,061,904   

Total Net Position 4,136,857$     590,417$        7,717,729$     12,445,003$   -$                    12,445,003$
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CMMPA Nebraska CapX Entity-Wide
Operations City Power Initiative Total Eliminations Total

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,402,847$     -$                   -$                   4,402,847$    -$                    4,402,847$
Restricted Cash and Cash
  Equivalents -                      534,595        11,532,444   12,067,039   -                      12,067,039
Accounts Receivable 3,482,492       -                    1,426,124     4,908,616     -                      4,908,616
Due from Other Funds -                      309,315        675,554        984,869        (984,869)         -                    
Interest Receivable -                      -                    1,885            1,885            -                      1,885            
Prepaid Expenses and Other

  Current Assets 9,375              -                    -                    9,375            -                      9,375            
Total Current Assets 7,894,714       843,910        13,636,007   22,374,631   (984,869)         21,389,762

OTHER ASSETS
Investment in Utilities Plus
  Energy Services 775,531          -                    -                    775,531        -                      775,531

Total Other Assets 775,531          -                    -                    775,531        -                      775,531

DEFERRED DEBIT -                      289,795        2,559,953     2,849,748     -                      2,849,748

CAPITAL ASSETS
Non-Depreciable:

Land 15,622            -                    -                    15,622          -                      15,622          
Construction in Progress: 
  Website -                      -                    -                    -                    -                      -                    

Power Projects -                      -                    -                    -                      -                    
Depreciable, Net 673,652          -                    31,007,561   31,681,213   -                      31,681,213

Total Capital Assets 689,274          -                    31,007,561   31,696,835   -                      31,696,835

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension Related 134,657          -                    -                    134,657        -                      134,657

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 2,402,331       -                    366,772        2,769,103     -                      2,769,103
Due to Other Funds 984,869          -                    -                    984,869        (984,869)         -                    
Accrued Liabilities and Other
  Payables 862,030          -                    -                    862,030        -                      862,030
Interest Payable -                      -                    816,926        816,926        -                      816,926

Total Current Liabilities 4,249,230       -                    1,183,698     5,432,928     (984,869)         4,448,059

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Net Pension Liability 984,679          -                    -                    984,679        -                      984,679
Bonds Payable - Current and
  Noncurrent -                      -                    36,116,839   36,116,839   -                      36,116,839

Total Liabilities 5,233,909       -                    37,300,537   42,534,446   (984,869)         41,549,577

DEFERRED CREDIT -                      534,595        2,330,454     2,865,049     -                      2,865,049

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension Related 53,168            -                    -                    53,168          -                      53,168          

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 689,274          -                    (980,180)       (290,906)       -                      (290,906)
Restricted for Member Rebates 125,085          -                    -                    125,085        -                      125,085
Restricted for Participation in
  Power Projects -                      289,795        2,559,953     2,849,748     -                      2,849,748
Unrestricted 3,392,740       309,315        5,992,757     9,694,812     -                      9,694,812

Total Net Position 4,207,099$     599,110$        7,572,530$     12,378,739$   -$                    12,378,739$   
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CMMPA Nebraska CapX Entity-Wide
Operations City Power Initiative Total Eliminations Total

OPERATING REVENUES
Power Sales 26,324,569$   4,346,386$    -$                   30,670,955$  -$                 30,670,955$
Transmission Sales -                     -                    3,597,680 3,597,680     -                   3,597,680     

Total Operating Revenues 26,324,569     4,346,386     3,597,680     34,268,635   -                   34,268,635

OPERATING EXPENSES
Purchased Power 19,363,306     4,346,386     -                    23,709,692 -                   23,709,692
O&M Assessments -                     -                    68,084 68,084 -                   68,084          
Tariff Distributions -                     -                    272,516 272,516 -                   272,516        
Transmission 7,009,593       -                    -                    7,009,593     -                   7,009,593     
General and Administrative 3,206,123 -                    -                    3,206,123 -                   3,206,123     
Depreciation  147,085 -                    803,923        951,008 -                   951,008        
Amortization -                     8,693 853,318        862,011 -                   862,011        

Total Operating Expenses 29,726,107     4,355,079     1,997,841     36,079,027   -                   36,079,027

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (3,401,538)      (8,693)           1,599,839     (1,810,392)    -                   (1,810,392)    

NONOPERATING REVENUES
  (EXPENSES)

Investment Income and Other 1,341,051       -                    -                    1,341,051 -                   1,341,051     
Membership Dues and Assessments 2,149,723       -                    -                    2,149,723     -                   2,149,723     
Member Distribution of Funds (159,478)         -                    -                    (159,478)       -                   (159,478)       
Interest Expense -                     -                    (1,454,640)    (1,454,640)    -                   (1,454,640)    

Total Nonoperating 
  Revenues (Expenses), Net 3,331,296       -                    (1,454,640)    1,876,656     -                   1,876,656     

CHANGES IN NET POSITION (70,242)           (8,693)           145,199        66,264          -                   66,264          

Net Position - Beginning of Year 4,207,099       599,110        7,572,530     12,378,739   -                   12,378,739

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR 4,136,857$     590,417$       7,717,729$    12,445,003$  -$                 12,445,003$
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CMMPA Nebraska CapX Entity-Wide
Operations City Power Initiative Total Eliminations Total

OPERATING REVENUES
Power Sales 27,065,603$   4,030,954$     -$                   31,096,557$   -$                    31,096,557$   
Transmission Sales -                      -                    4,523,041      4,523,041      -                      4,523,041      

Total Operating Revenues 27,065,603     4,030,954      4,523,041      35,619,598    -                      35,619,598    

OPERATING EXPENSES
Purchased Power 20,404,156     4,030,954      320,428         24,755,538 -                      24,755,538    
Transmission 6,509,797       -                    -                    6,509,797 -                      6,509,797      
General and Administrative 2,284,585       -                    -                    2,284,585 -                      2,284,585      
Depreciation  105,540          -                    720,968         826,508 -                      826,508         
Amortization -                      8,692            858,859         867,551 -                      867,551         

Total Operating Expenses 29,304,078     4,039,646      1,900,255      35,243,979    -                      35,243,979    

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (2,238,475)      (8,692)           2,622,786      375,619         -                      375,619         

NONOPERATING REVENUES
(EXPENSES)
Investment Income and Other 295,350          -                    1,886            297,236         -                      297,236         
Equity in Earnings of UPES 20,963            -                    -                    20,963 -                      20,963           
Membership Dues and Assessments 2,500,663       -                    -                    2,500,663      -                      2,500,663      
Return of Equity -                      -                    -                    -                    -                      -                    
Interest Expense -                      -                    (1,377,358)    (1,377,358)    -                      (1,377,358)    

Total Nonoperating Revenues
(Expenses), Net 2,816,976       -                    (1,375,472)    1,441,504      -                      1,441,504      

CHANGES IN NET POSITION 578,501          (8,692)           1,247,314      1,817,123      -                      1,817,123      

Net Position - Beginning of Year
As Previously Stated 3,436,018       607,802         4,518,124      8,561,944      -                      8,561,944      

Prior Period Adjustment 192,580          -                    1,807,092      1,999,672      -                      1,999,672      
Net Position - Beginning of Year,
     As Restated 3,628,598       607,802         6,325,216      10,561,616    -                      10,561,616    

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR 4,207,099$     599,110$        7,572,530$     12,378,739$   -$                    12,378,739$   
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CMMPA Nebraska CapX Entity-Wide
Operations City Power Initiative Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from Customers 26,643,329$     4,346,386$       4,329,778$        35,319,493$     
Payments to Suppliers (27,773,651)    (4,346,386)      (340,600)          (32,460,637)    
Payments to Employees (1,353,827)      -                      -                       (1,353,827)      

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (2,484,149)      -                      3,989,178         1,505,029        

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Member Distribution (159,478)         -                      -                       (159,478)         
Membership Dues and Assessments Received 2,149,723        -                      -                       2,149,723        
Interfund Balances 3,341,098        -                      (3,341,099)       (1)                    

Net Cash Provided (Used) by 
  Noncapital Financing Activities 5,331,343        -                      (3,341,099)       1,990,244        

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
  RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of Capital Assets (152,656)         -                      17,707             (134,949)         
Principal Paid on Long-Term Debt -                      -                      (925,000)          (925,000)         
Interest Paid on Long-Term Debt -                      -                      (1,610,517)       (1,610,517)      

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital
  and Related Financing Activities (152,656)         -                      (2,517,810)       (2,670,466)      

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment Income Received 1,970,978        -                      -                       1,970,978        
Deferred Project Costs -                      -                      750,000           750,000          

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities 1,970,978        -                      750,000           2,720,978        

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
  AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,665,516        -                      (1,119,731)       3,545,785        

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 4,402,847        534,595          11,532,444       16,469,886      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -
  END OF YEAR 9,068,363$        534,595$           10,412,713$      20,015,671$      

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO
  NET CASH USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating Income (Loss) (3,401,538)$     (8,693)$            1,599,839$        (1,810,392)$     
Depreciation and Amortization 147,085          8,693              1,657,241         1,813,019        
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to Net
  Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:

Accounts Receivable (1,051,240)      -                      1,024,624         (26,616)           
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets (44,439)           -                      -                       (44,439)           
Accounts Payable (127,004)         -                      (292,526)          (419,530)         
Pension Adjustments 110,714          -                      -                       110,714          
Accrued Liabilities and Other Payables 1,882,273        -                      -                       1,882,273        

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (2,484,149)$     -$                     3,989,178$        1,505,029$       

NONCASH ACTIVITIES
Amortization of Bond Premium 585,999$          -$                     132,571$           718,570$          
Capitalized Interest -                        -                        135,567            135,567            
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CMMPA Nebraska CapX Entity-Wide
Operations City Power Initiative Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from Customers 26,318,049$     4,030,954$       4,533,703$        34,882,706$     
Payments to Suppliers (28,275,290)    (4,030,954)      (320,428)          (32,626,672)    
Payments to Employees (1,138,233)      -                      -                       (1,138,233)      

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (3,095,474)      -                      4,213,275         1,117,801        

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Membership Dues and Assessments Received 2,500,663        -                      -                       2,500,663        
Interfund Balances (793,284)         284,731          508,553           -                      

Net Cash Provided by 
  Noncapital Financing Activities 1,707,379        284,731          508,553           2,500,663        

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
  RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of Capital Assets (159,204)         -                      (1,690,821)       (1,850,025)      
Interest Paid on Long-Term Debt -                      -                      (1,376,723)       (1,376,723)      

Net Cash Used by Capital
  and Related Financing Activities (159,204)         -                      (3,067,544)       (3,226,748)      

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment Income Received 297,578          -                      -                       297,578          
Deferred Project Costs -                      -                      522,923           522,923          

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities 297,578          -                      522,923           820,501          

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND 
  CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,249,721)      284,731          2,177,207         1,212,217        

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 5,652,568        249,864          9,355,237         15,257,669      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -
  END OF YEAR 4,402,847$        534,595$           11,532,444$      16,469,886$      

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO
  NET CASH USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating Income (Loss) (2,238,475)$     (8,692)$            2,622,786$        375,619$          
Depreciation and Amortization 105,540          8,692              1,579,827         1,694,059        
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Loss to Net
  Cash Used by Operating Activities:

Accounts Receivable (747,554)         -                      (356,110)          (1,103,664)      
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 153,087          -                      -                       153,087          
Accounts Payable (243,337)         -                      366,772           123,435          
Pension Adjustments 47,430            -                      -                       47,430            
Accrued Liabilities and Other Payables (172,165)         -                      -                       (172,165)         

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (3,095,474)$     -$                     4,213,275$        1,117,801$       

NONCASH ACTIVITIES
Equity in Earnings of UPES 20,963$           -$                     -$                      20,963$           
Amortization of Bond Premium -                      -                      132,571           132,571          
Capitalized Interest -                      -                      135,567           135,567          
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Organization and Nature of Business 
The Central Minnesota Municipal Power Agency (CMMPA) is a municipal power agency 
created in 1987 pursuant to Minnesota Statutes, Sections 453.51 to 453.62. CMMPA was 
established to serve the mutual needs of its members and has the power and authority to 
finance and acquire facilities for the generation and transmission of electric energy. CMMPA 
is governed by a 12-member board of commissioners elected by the members. 

CMPAS was originally formed from the joint powers of CMMPA and the Midwest Municipal 
Gas Agency (MMGA). Utilities Plus operates as a municipal utilities service company for its 
members and non-member municipal utilities whether located in Minnesota or other states. 
Services include utility management services, monitoring and control services, capacity 
purchases and sales, metering services and dispatching of electric energy or gas. 

CMPAS shared a common board of commissioners with CMMPA. The operations of MMGA 
are minimal. Therefore, CMMPA, MMGA and CMPAS are presented in the “CMMPA 
operations” columns of the basic financial statements. Hereafter, CMMPA, MMGA and 
CMPAS are collectively referred to as “CMMPA”. In December 2016, the Utilities Plus 
Energy Services, Inc. company was sold. 

Reporting Entity 
CMMPA is a special-purpose entity, as specified by governmental accounting standards, 
and provided wholesale electrical power to member and non-member municipal utilities. As 
required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, the financial statements of the 
reporting entity include those of CMMPA. There are no component units reported.  

CMMPA Members 
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, CMMPA had twelve agency members, which were 
comprised of municipal utilities located in Minnesota that own and operate electric 
distribution systems. In 2016, CMMPA’s members included Blue Earth, Delano, Fairfax, 
Glencoe, Granite Falls, Janesville, Kasson, Kenyon, Mountain Lake, Sleepy Eye, 
Springfield, and Windom. The membership agreements require members to provide a 
minimum notice of five years before they can effectively terminate their membership in the 
Agency.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
This financial report has been prepared in conformity with Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements – and 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local Governments, issued in June 
1999. The financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Financial Statements 
CMMPA reports the following major funds: 

CMMPA Operations – This fund accounts for the general operations within the Agency. 

Nebraska City Power – This fund accounts for activities relating to the Nebraska City 
Power project which began operations on May 2010. 

CapX Initiative – This fund accounts for activities relating to the CapX Initiative project. 

Revenue Recognition 
CMMPA recognizes revenues on the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, revenues are 
recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when a liability is incurred, 
regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. 

Power sales revenue receivables, representing power sales for the period between the last 
billing date and the end of the period, are accrued in the period sold. 

Operating Revenues and Expenses 
Operating revenues result from exchange transactions associated with the principal activity 
of CMMPA, which is the sale of electricity. Operating expenses are defined as expenses 
directly related to, or incurred in support of, the production and transmission of electricity to 
the participating members and non-members. Revenues from membership dues and 
assessments, interest income, regulatory income (FERC related), and other equity 
transactions are reported as non-operating revenues.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
For purposes of the statements of cash flows, CMMPA considers all highly liquid 
investments available for current use with an initial maturity of three months or less to be 
cash equivalents. 

Capital Assets 
Capital assets are recorded at historical cost and are being depreciated over the estimated 
useful lives of the respective assets. CMMPA generally records capital assets having an 
individual cost in excess $2,500. 

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful 
lives. Depreciation has been provided over the estimated useful lives using the straight-line 
method. The useful lives of various classes of depreciable fixed assets are: 

 Buildings and Improvements 5 to 40 Years 
 All Other Capital Assets  3 to 15 Years 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Capital Assets (Continued) 
Construction in progress, Power Projects includes all costs associated with the development 
of the CapX Initiative project (see Note 4). Included in the construction in progress amount is 
interest expense capitalized of $-0- and $135,567, for the years ending December 31, 2016 
and 2015, respectively. The interest was incurred on the CAPX Revenue Note 2012. 

Net Pension Liability 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows/inflows of resources, 
and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Public Employees 
Retirement Association (PERA) and additions to/deductions from PERA’s fiduciary net 
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by PERA. For this 
purpose, plan contributions are recognized as of employer payroll paid dates and benefit 
payments and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit 
terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

Deferred Outflows of Resources 
The Statement of Net Position reports a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. 
This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net position that 
applies to a future period. CMMPA will not recognize the related outflow until a future event 
occurs. More detailed information about pension related deferred outflows of resources can 
be found in Note 11 to the financial statements. 

Deferred Inflows of Resources 
CMMPA’s financial statements report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. 
This separate financial statement element reflects an acquisition of net position that applies 
to a future period. CMMPA will not recognize the related revenue until a future event occurs. 
CMMPA’s deferred inflow of resources relates to pension activity as described in Note 11. 

Deferred Debits/Credits 
CMMPA applies the provisions of GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and 
Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA 
Pronouncements. This statement recognizes the effects of operating in a regulatory 
environment creating future economic benefits/obligations affecting CMMPA’s operations. 
Accordingly, CMMPA records these future economic benefits/obligations as deferred debits 
and deferred credits, respectively, which are accounted for as regulatory assets and 
regulatory liabilities, respectively. CMMPA expects these debits and credits to be recovered 
through future rates on electrical power. 

Personnel Costs 
CMMPA records a liability for PTO as the benefits accrue to employees. CMMPA 
compensates all employees upon termination for unused vacation. The financial statements 
reflect a liability of $143,301 and $139,205 for unused vacation as of December 31, 2016 
and 2015, respectively. Employees earn PTO based on the personnel policies of CMMPA, 
however, accrued PTO is not paid to employees when they leave employment. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Net Position 
Net position represents the difference between assets, deferred inflows of resources, and 
deferred debits, and liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and deferred credits in the 
financial statements. 

Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, 
reduced by the outstanding balance of any long-term debt used to build or acquire the 
capital assets, net of unspent debt proceeds. 

Net position restricted for member rebates are amounts approved by the board of 
commissioners that may be returned to members upon the request of the member. 
Members may also use these amounts to satisfy future project costs or other funding 
requirements required by CMMPA.  

Unrestricted net position have no external restrictions imposed, but may be designated for 
specific purposes by CMMPA’s board of commissioners. There were no designations of 
unrestricted net position as of December 31, 2016 or 2015. 

Intercompany Activity 
During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds for 
goods provided or services rendered. The resulting receivables (liabilities) are classified as 
Due From (To) Other Funds on the statement of net position. 

Quasi-external transactions are accounted for as revenues or expenses. Transactions that 
constitute reimbursements to a fund for expenses made on behalf of another fund are 
recorded as expenses in the reimbursing fund and as reductions of expenses in the fund 
that is reimbursed. 

All other interfund transactions are eliminated in the “entity-wide totals” on the statement of 
net position and statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 

Income Taxes 
CMMPA is exempt from federal and state income taxes, as it is a political subdivision of the 
State of Minnesota. 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 

Reclassification
Certain 2015 amounts were reclassified to conform to 2016 presentation. The 
reclassifications did not affect net position or changes in net position. 
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NOTE 2 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

A. Deposits 
Custodial Credit Risk – Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank 
failure, the bank deposits may not be returned to it in full. CMMPA does not have a 
policy for managing deposits other than following Minnesota Statutes. 

In accordance with Minnesota statutes, CMMPA maintains deposits at depository banks 
authorized by its board of commissioners.  

Minnesota statutes require that all deposits be protected by insurance, surety bond or 
collateral. The market value of the collateral pledged must equal 110% of the deposits 
not covered by insurance or bonds. 

Authorized collateral includes certain U.S. Government Securities, state or local 
government obligations, and other securities authorized by Minn. Stat. 118.A.03. 
Minnesota statutes require that securities pledged as collateral be held in safekeeping a 
financial institution other than that furnishing the collateral. 

CMMPA’s bank balance of deposits totaled $8,269,636 as of December 31, 2016 were 
collateralized up to $7,289,934, whereas Minnesota Statutes required collateral of 
$8,821,600. CMMPA’s deposits as of December 31, 2015 were also not covered by 
Federal depository insurance or pledged collateral of U.S. Government Securities held 
by the depositories.  

B. Investments 
CMMPA may also invest idle funds as authorized by Minnesota Statutes as follows: 

 Direct obligations or obligations guaranteed by the United States or its agencies 
 Shares of investment companies registered under the Federal Investment Company 

Act of 1940 and rated in one of the two highest rating categories by a statistical 
rating agency, and all of the investments have a final maturity of 13 months or less

 General obligations rated “A” or better; revenue obligations rated “AA” or better 
 General obligations of the Minnesota Housing Finance Agency rated “A” or better 
 Bankers’ acceptances of United States banks eligible for purchase by the Federal 

Reserve System 
 Commercial paper issued by United States corporations or their Canadian 

subsidiaries, of the highest quality category by at least two nationally recognized 
rating agencies, and maturing in 270 days or less 

 Guaranteed Investment Contracts guaranteed by a United States commercial bank, 
domestic branch of a foreign bank, or a United States insurance company, and with 
a credit quality in one of the top two highest categories 
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NOTE 2 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

B. Investments (continued) 

 Repurchase or reverse purchase agreements and securities lending agreements 
with financial institutions qualified as a “depository” by the government entity, with 
banks that are members of the Federal Reserve System with capitalization 
exceeding $10,000,000, a primary reporting dealer in U.S. Government Securities to 
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or certain Minnesota securities broker-
dealers

 Any security which is an obligation of a school district with an original maturity not 
exceeding 13 months and (i) rated in the highest category by a national bond rating 
service or (ii) enrolled in the credit enhancement program pursuant to section 
126C.55.

CMMPA’s investments consisted of the following as of December 31: 

2016
Maturity Fair Value % of Total

Investments
Central Minnesota Municipal Power Agency:

Capx Initiative - Wells Fargo Advantage 
100% Treasury Money Market Fund 51 days 10,412,713$   100.0%

Total 10,412,713$

Maturity Fair Value % of Total
Investments

Central Minnesota Municipal Power Agency: 
CMMPA Operations - Prime Money 
Market Fund - Capital 7 days 1,250,500$     9.8%
Capx Initiative - Wells Fargo Advantage 
100% Treasury Money Market Fund 51 days 11,532,444     90.2%

Total 12,782,944$

Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater 
the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. While investments in 
money market funds are fairly liquid, a major change in interest rates could cause the 
value of these investments to decline. CMMPA does not have an investment policy that 
limits maturities of debt securities as a means of managing exposure to fair value. 
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NOTE 2 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

B. Investments (Continued) 
Credit Risk 
Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation 
to the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a 
nationally recognized statistical rating organization. Minnesota Statutes restrict the types 
of investments that CMMPA may hold; however, CMMPA does not have an investment 
policy that would further limit its investment choices. Both investments are rated AAA by 
Moody’s and AAA by Standard & Poor’s. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 
CMMPA does not place a limit on the amount of the total portfolio that may be invested 
in any one depository or issuer. The term issuer should be understood as referring to the 
underlying investments themselves rather than the pool sponsor in the case of money 
market funds. 

NOTE 3 COMMITMENTS 

Long-Term Contracts 
CMMPA has contracts with various agencies and local government units to purchase or sell 
energy in the normal course of its business operations. 

NOTE 4 DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS 

During 2005, CMMPA acquired rights to the output of future base-load generation projects. 
As a project-oriented agency, each CMMPA member individually decides in which projects it 
wishes to participate. CMMPA may allow non-members to participate in projects. The 
participants are entitled to receive and are obligated to pay for their respective pro rata 
shares of CMMPA’s interest in each individual project. Each project is financially 
independent of other projects. 

CapX Initiative 
CMMPA entered into a Transmission Project Memorandum of Understanding dated 
August 24, 2006, along with five other energy companies to construct power transmission 
lines in the state of Minnesota, the largest portion of which consists of 220 miles of new 
power transmission lines between Brookings, South Dakota, and the Twin Cities. The CapX 
Initiative is one of several transmission projects arising from the CapX 2020 Initiative, the 
purpose of which is to enhance the reliability of electrical power transmission for customers 
in Minnesota and the surrounding region.  
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NOTE 4 DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS (CONTINUED) 

CapX Initiative (Continued) 
Great River Energy (GRE) and Northern States Power Company (NSP) are the 
development managers for the CapX Initiative. CMMPA is obligated to pay for 4.1% of the 
total cost of the CapX Initiative, which was completed in 2015. CMMPA and nine CMMPA 
members and six non-members entered into participation agreements pursuant to which 
such members and non-members will be obligated to pay for their respective pro rata shares 
of CMMPA’s participation share in the CapX Initiative. 

NOTE 5 PROJECT IN OPERATION 

Nebraska City Power Station No. 2 
CMMPA entered into a participation power agreement dated January 15, 2004 with the 
Omaha Public Power District (OPPD), pursuant to which CMMPA has acquired rights to 
receive and obligations to pay for 2.17% of Nebraska City Power Station No. 2 (NC2). 
OPPD completed construction of NC2 and the project began commercial operation in 2009. 
CMMPA estimates that its share of the 663 mw coal-fired units will be approximately 14.4 
mw. CMMPA and ten members of CMMPA entered into power sales agreements pursuant 
to which such members will be entitled to receive and obligated to pay for their respective 
pro rata shares of CMMPA’s participation share in NC2.  

NOTE 6 DEFERRED DEBITS 

CMMPA has the following deferred debits which are considered regulatory assets at 
December 31: 

2016 2015
Unamortized Power Participation Costs in 
NC2 281,101$         289,795$
Pre-Development Costs for CAPX 1,706,633      2,559,953

Total 1,987,734$     2,849,748$

In 2012, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission requested that certain pre-
development costs incurred for the CAPX project that were expensed in prior years be 
capitalized in 2012 and be amortized over a five year period. This resulted in the Pre-
Development Costs for CAPX being $1,706,633 and $1,828,773, which is net of $2,559,952 
and $1,706,635 in accumulated amortization as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 
respectively. Amortization expense totaled $853,318 and $858,859, in the years ended 
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
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NOTE 7 CAPITAL ASSETS 

Capital asset activity was as follows: 

Balance Balance
12/31/15 Additions Deletions 12/31/16

Nondepreciable Capital Assets:
 Land 15,622$          -$                    -$                     15,622$
Construction in Progress:

Power Projects -                     -                     -                      -                     
Website -                     -                     -                      -                     

Total Nondepreciable
  Assets 15,622           -                     -                      15,622

Depreciable Capital Assets:
Transmission Lines 32,156,913    -                     -                      32,156,913
Land Improvements 9,365             -                     -                      9,365             
Buildings 604,754         -                     -                      604,754
Furniture and Equipment 845,058         134,951         (109,344)         870,665
Vehicles 55,532           -                     -                      55,532

Total Depreciable Assets 33,671,622    134,951         (109,344)         33,697,229
Accumulated Depreciation (1,990,409)     (951,008)        109,344          (2,832,073)

Depreciable Capital
  Assets, Net 31,681,213    (816,057)        -                      30,865,156

Total Capital Assets 31,696,835$   (816,057)$       -$                     30,880,778$

Balance Balance
12/31/14 Additions Deletions 12/31/15

Nondepreciable Capital Assets:
 Land 15,622$          -$                    -$                     15,622$
Construction in Progress:
  Power Projects 9,474,271      1,549,711      (11,023,982)   -                     
  Website 153,118         -                     (153,118)         -                     
Total Nondepreciable Assets 9,643,011      1,549,711      (11,177,100)   15,622

Depreciable Capital Assets:
Transmission Lines 21,132,931    11,023,982    -                      32,156,913
Land Improvements 9,365             -                     -                      9,365             
Buildings 604,754         -                     -                      604,754
Furniture and Equipment 727,384         214,999         (97,325)           845,058
Vehicles 68,928           97,324           (110,720)         55,532

Total Depreciable Assets 22,543,362    11,336,305    (208,045)         33,671,622
Accumulated Depreciation (1,371,946)     (826,508)        208,045          (1,990,409)

Depreciable Capital
  Assets, Net 21,171,416    10,509,797    -                      31,681,213

Total Capital Assets 30,814,427$   12,059,508$   (11,177,100)$  31,696,835$
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NOTE 8 LONG-TERM DEBT 

In 2012, CMMPA issued $32,670,000 CAPX Revenue Note, Series 2012 which bears 
interest at 5% per annum. The debt service on these bonds is payable solely from and 
secured solely by a pledge and assignment of and security interest in the bond proceeds; all 
right, title and interest of CMMPA in the transmission project agreements, the transmission 
asset assignment agreements (but only to the extent related to the CAPX Brookings 
Project), and upstream project agreements; and certain funds established by the Brookings 
Transmission Bond Resolution. Under the Brookings Transmission Bond Resolution, 
operating and maintenance expenses relating to the CAPX Brookings Project and budgeted 
CMMPA working capital amounts will be paid or provided for from the transmission revenues 
prior to the application of the remaining transmission revenues to the payment of debt 
service on the bonds. 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, there was $3,861,301 and $4,129,098 of 
unspent proceeds of the CAPX Revenue Note that were restricted for use on construction 
activities, debt service and working capital requirements related to CMMPA’s share of the 
CAPX Brookings Project. 

The following is a schedule of changes in CMMPA’s long-term debt: 

Balance Balance Due Within
12/31/15 Additions Retirements 12/31/16 One Year

CAPX Brookings, 2012 32,670,000$      -$                      (925,000)$         31,745,000$      1,215,000$        
Premium on Bonds 3,446,839          -                        (132,576)           3,314,263          -                        

Balance Balance Due Within
12/31/14 Additions Retirements 12/31/15 One Year

CAPX Brookings, 2012 32,670,000$      -$                      -$                      32,670,000$      925,000$           
Premium on Bonds 3,579,415          -                        (132,576)           3,446,839          -                        

The following schedule shows the future payments required on the CAPX Revenue Note: 

Year Principal Interest Total
2017 1,215,000$    1,587,250$    2,802,250$
2018 1,905,000      1,526,500      3,431,500
2019 1,925,000      1,431,250      3,356,250
2020 1,975,000      1,335,000      3,310,000

2021-2025 5,502,000      5,632,250      11,134,250
2026-2030 5,590,000      4,249,250      9,839,250
2031-2035 5,718,000      2,839,750      8,557,750
2036-2040 5,885,000      1,393,500      7,278,500
2041-2042 2,030,000      143,000         2,173,000

Total Payments 31,745,000$  20,137,750$ 51,882,750$
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NOTE 9 DEFERRED CREDITS 

In 2016 CMMPA has set up a reserve which will be used to provide rate stabilization for 
CMMPA Operations. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 there was $1,370,000 and $-0- of 
deferred credits, respectively. 

CMMPA has set up an operating reserve which will be used to fund any future major repairs 
and replacements and provide rate stabilization for participants relating to the Nebraska City 
Project. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, there were $534,595 and $535,595, 
respectively of deferred credits. 

In 2014 CMMPA has set up a reserve which will be used to fund any future costs and 
provide rate stabilization for participants in the CAPX Brookings Project. As of December 31, 
2016 and 2015 there was $3,080,454 and $2,330,454 of deferred credits, respectively. 

NOTE 10 INTERFUND BALANCES AND TRANSFERS 

Interfund due to/due from are as follows for the year ending December 31: 

Due from Due to 
Other Funds Other Funds Purpose

Nebraska City Power 309,316$        -$                    Provide short-term funding for projects
CapX Initiative 4,016,653       -                      Provide short-term funding for projects
CMMPA Operations -                      4,325,969       Provide short-term funding for projects

4,325,969$     4,325,969$

Due from Due to 
Other Funds Other Funds Purpose

Nebraska City Power 309,315$        -$                   Provide short-term funding for projects
CMMPA Operations -                     984,869        Provide short-term funding for projects
CapX Initiative 675,554          -                      Provide short-term funding for projects

984,869$        984,869$        

2016

2015

See Note 8 for more information on the long-term financing. 

NOTE 11 RETIREMENT PLAN 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
Plan Description 
CMMPA participates in the following cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension 
plans administered by PERA. PERA’s defined benefit pension plans are established and 
administered in accordance with Minnesota Statutes, Chapters 353 and 356. PERA’s 
defined benefit pension plans are tax qualified plans under Section 401(a) of the Internal 
Revenue Code. 
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NOTE 11 RETIREMENT PLAN (CONTINUED) 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Continued) 
Plan Description (Continued) 
All full-time and certain part-time employees of the Agency are covered by the General. 
Employees Retirement Fund (GERF). GERF members belong to either the Coordinated 
Plan or the Basic Plan. Coordinated Plan members are covered by Social Security and 
Basic Plan members are not. The Basic Plan was closed to new members in 1967. All new 
members must participate in the Coordinated Plan. 

Benefits Provided 
PERA provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit provisions are established 
by state statute and can only be modified by the state legislature.  

Benefit increases are provided to benefit recipients each January. Increases are related to 
the funding ratio of the plan. Members in plans that are at least 90% funded for two 
consecutive years are given 2.5% increases. Members in plans that have not exceeded 90% 
funded, or have fallen below 80%, are given 1% increases. 

The benefit provisions stated in the following paragraphs of this section are current 
provisions and apply to active plan participants. Vested, terminated employees who are 
entitled to benefits but are not receiving them yet are bound by the provisions in effect at the 
time they last terminated their public service. 

Benefits are based on a member’s highest average salary for any five successive years of 
allowable service, age, and years of credit at termination of service. Two methods are used 
to compute benefits for PERA's Coordinated and Basic Plan members. The retiring member 
receives the higher of a step-rate benefit accrual formula (Method 1) or a level accrual 
formula (Method 2). Under Method 1, the annuity accrual rate for a Basic Plan member is 
2.2% of average salary for each of the first ten years of service, and 2.7% for each 
remaining year. The annuity accrual rate for a Coordinated Plan member is 1.2 percent of 
average salary for each of the first ten years, and 1.7% for each remaining year. Under 
Method 2, the annuity accrual rate is 2.7% of average salary for Basic Plan members, and 
1.7% for Coordinated Plan members for each year of service. For members hired prior to 
July 1, 1989, a full annuity is available when age plus years of service equal 90 and normal 
retirement age is 65. For members hired on or after July 1, 1989, normal retirement age is 
the age for unreduced Social Security benefits capped at 66.  

Contributions 
Minnesota Statutes Chapter 353 sets the rates for employer and employee contributions. 
Contribution rates can only be modified by the state legislature. 

Basic Plan members and Coordinated Plan members were required to contribute 9.1% and 
6.50%, respectively, of their annual covered salary in calendar year 2016. CMMPA was 
required to contribute 11.78% of pay for Basic Plan members and 7.50% for Coordinated 
Plan members in calendar year 2016. CMMPA contributions to the GERF for the year ended 
December 31, 2016, were $84,569. The contributions were equal to the required 
contributions as set by state statute. 



CENTRAL MINNESOTA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

(26) 

NOTE 11 RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Continued)
Pension Costs 
At December 31, 2016, CMMPA reported a liability of $1,477,750 for its proportionate share 
of the GERF’s net pension liability. The Agency net pension liability reflected a reduction 
due to the state of Minnesota’s contribution of $6 million to the fund in 2016. The State of 
Minnesota is considered a non-employer contributing entity and the state’s contribution 
meets the definition of a special funding situation. The State of Minnesota’s proportionate 
share of the net pension liability associated with CMMPA totaled $19,261. The net pension 
liability was measured as of June 30, 2016 and the total pension liability used to calculate 
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. CMMPA’s 
proportion of the net pension liability was based on CMMPA contributions received by PERA 
during the measurement period for employer payroll paid dates from July 1, 2015, through 
June 30, 2016, relative to the total employer contributions received from all of PERA’s 
participating employers. At June 30, 2016, CMMPA’s proportion was 0.0182%, which was a 
decrease of 0.0008% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2015. 

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, CMMPA recognized pension expense of 
$200,212 and $130,081, respectively, for its proportionate share of the GERF’s pension 
expense. In addition, CMMPA recognized an additional $5,743 as pension expense (and 
grant revenue) for its proportionate share of the State of Minnesota’s contribution of 
$6 million to the GERF. 

At December 31, 2016, CMMPA reported its proportionate share of GERF’s deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources from the following sources: 

Description
Deferred Outflows 

of Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources

-$                         120,045$       -$                   49,645$      
Changes in Actuarial Assumptions 289,345              -                   -                     -                

280,483                -                     93,215           -                  
-                           32,068           -                     3,523          

46,131                  -                     41,442           -                  
615,959$             152,113$      134,657$       53,168$     

2016 2015

Total

Contributions Paid to PERA Subsequent 
to the Measurement Date

Changes in Proportion

Net Difference Between Projected and 
Actual Earnings on Pension Plan 
Investments

Differences Between Expected and 
Actual Economic Experience
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NOTE 11 RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Continued) 
Pension Costs (Continued) 
$46,131 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from 
CMMPA contributions to GERF subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as 
a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended December 31, 2017. Other amounts 
reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to GERF pensions will be 
recognized in pension expense as follows: 

CMMPA
Pension 
Expense

Year Ended December 31, Amount
2017 115,770$             
2018 115,770              
2019 132,796              
2020 53,379                

Actuarial Assumptions 
The total pension liability in the June 30, 2016, actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions: 

Inflation 2.50% per year
Salary Increases 3.25%, Average, Including Inflation
Investment Rate of Return 7.50%, Net of Pension Plan Investment Expense

Salary increases were based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members, 
retirees, survivors and disabilitants were based on RP-2014 tables for males or females, as 
appropriate, with slight adjustments. Cost of living benefit increases for retirees are assumed 
to be 1% per year for all future years for the General Employees Retirement Fund Plan.

Actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2016, valuation were based on the results of 
actuarial experience studies. The most recent four year experience study in the General 
Employees Plan was completed in 2015. 

The following changes in actuarial assumptions occurred in 2016. The assumed post-
retirement benefit increase rate was changed from 1.0% per year through 2035 and 2.5% 
per year thereafter, to 1.0% per year for all future years. The assumed investment rate of 
return was changed from 7.90% to 7.50%. The single discount rate was changed from 
7.90% to 7.50%. Other assumptions were changed pursuant to the experience study dated 
June 30, 2015. The assumed future salary increases, payroll growth, and inflation were 
decreased by 0.25% to 3.25% for payroll growth and 2.50% for inflation. 
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NOTE 11 RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Continued)
Actuarial Assumptions (Continued) 
The State Board of Investment, which manages the investments of PERA, prepares an 
analysis of the reasonableness on a regular basis of the long-term expected rate of return 
using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of 
return are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce an 
expected long-term rate of return by weighting the expected future rates of return by the 
target asset allocation percentages. The target allocation and best estimates of geometric 
real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 

Long-Term
Target Expected Real

Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return
Domestic Equity 45% 5.50%
International Equity 15% 6.00%
Bonds 18% 1.45%
Alternative Assets 20% 6.40%
Cash 2% 0.50%

Total 100%

Discount Rate 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability in 2016 was 7.50%, a reduction 
from the 7.90% used in 2015. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount 
rate assumed that employee and employer contributions will be made at the rates set in 
Minnesota Statutes. Based on that assumption, the fiduciary net position of the GERF was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan 
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Pension Liability Sensitivity 
The following presents the Agency’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for all 
plans it participates in, calculated using the discount rate disclosed in the preceding 
paragraph, as well as what the Agency’s proportionate share of the net pension liability 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate one percentage point lower or one 
percentage point higher than the current discount rate at December 31, 2016: 

Description
1% Decrease 

(6.5%)

Current 
Discount Rate 

(7.5%)
1% Increase 

(8.5%)
CMMPA Proportionate Share of the 
GERF Net Pension Liability 2,098,843$      1,477,750$      966,138$
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NOTE 11 RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
Detailed information about each pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in a 
separately-issued PERA financial report that includes financial statements and required 
supplementary information. That report may be obtained on the Internet at www.mnpera.org.

NOTE 12 RISK MANAGEMENT 

CMMPA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or 
destruction of assets; error or omissions; or natural disasters.  

CMMPA has purchased commercial coverage through Insurance Agency of Blue Earth. 
Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage 
in any of the past three fiscal years. 

CMMPA has joined together with other municipalities and cities in the League of Minnesota 
Cities General Property and Casualty Insurance Plan. These are public entity risk pools 
currently operating as a common risk management and insurance program for member 
municipalities and cities. The municipality pays annual premiums for these plans. Premiums 
are used to purchase reinsurance through commercial companies. The administrators of 
these plans believe assessment to participating utilities and cities for future losses sustained 
is remote. There were no significant reductions in insurance from the previous year or 
settlements in excess of insurance coverage for any of the past three fiscal years. 

CMMPA is self-insured for unemployment compensation. 

NOTE 13 ACCRUED DISTRIBUTION 

On May 24, 2006, the board of commissioners of CMMPA adopted a policy to make 
distributions to the Agencies from time to time, based upon a plan of distribution which is 
formally adopted by a 2/3 majority vote. The Board of commissioners approved a distribution 
to members of $159,478 and $-0- in 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
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NOTE 14 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

CMMPA had a 50% ownership interest in Utilities Plus Energy Services, Inc. (UPES) a for-
profit entity that services and installs electrical equipment for small utilities and large 
commercial energy users throughout the United States. CMMPA accounted for its 
investment in UPES using the equity method of accounting. However CMMPA sold their 
ownership in UPES in December 2016. Condensed financial information for UPES for the 
years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 is summarized as follows: 

2016 2015
Total Assets -$                     3,220,309$
Total Liabilities -                       1,668,105
Total Equity -                       1,552,204
Sales -                       11,200,947

Net Income -                       41,926

NOTE 15 RESTATEMENT 

During the year ended December 31, 2016, CMMPA restated the CAPX receivable 
amounts. These pronouncements require the restatement of the December 31, 2015 & 
December 31, 2014, net position as shown below.  

CMMPA Nebraska CapX Entity-Wide
Operations City Power Initiative Total

2015 Net Position Beginning 3,436,018$    607,802$    4,518,124$  8,561,944$
of Year As Previously Stated
Change in CapX Receivable -                     -                  1,070,013    1,070,013        
Change in Deferred Debit -                     -                  737,079       737,079           
Change in Member Transmission 
Receivable 192,580         -                  -                   192,580

Net Position - Beginning of Year as 
Restated 3,628,598$    607,802$    6,325,216$  10,561,616$    



CENTRAL MINNESOTA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY 
DECEMBER 31, 2016 

(31) 

Meaurement Date
June 30, 2016 June 30, 2015

PERA - GERF
CMMPA's Proportion of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) 0.0182% 0.0190%
CMMPA's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) 1,477,750$       984,679$
CMMPA's Covered-Employee Payroll 1,285,252$       1,115,904$
CMMPA's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) as a Percentage 
  of Its Covered-Employee Payroll 114.98% 88.24%
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 68.90% 78.20%

Additional information will be added as it becomes available.
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2016 2015
PERA - GERF
Contractually Required Contribution 1,477,750$   82,263$

(1,477,750)     (82,263)
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) -$                   -$                  

CMMPA's Covered-Employee Payroll 1,145,224$   1,003,211$

129.04% 8.20%Contributions as a Percentage of Covered 

Contributions in Relation to the Contractually Required Contribution

Additional information will be added as it becomes available.
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2016
CMMPA CMMPA Total CapX
Agency Project Eliminations Initiative

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents -$                   10,412,713$  -$                   10,412,713$
Accounts Receivable 403,385         -                     -                     403,385
Due from Other Funds 4,016,653      -                     -                     4,016,653

Total Current Assets 4,420,038      10,412,713    -                     14,832,751

DEFERRED DEBIT 1,706,633      1,523,365      (1,523,365)     1,706,633

CAPITAL ASSETS
Depreciable, Net -                     30,185,933    -                     30,185,933

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable -                     15,200           -                     15,200
Accrued Liabilities and Other Payables -                     59,046           -                     59,046
Interest Payable -                     793,625         -                     793,625

Total Current Liabilities -                     867,871         -                     867,871

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Bonds Payable - Current and 
Noncurrent -                     35,059,263    -                     35,059,263

Total Long-Term Liabilities -                     35,059,263    -                     35,059,263

Total Liabilities -                     35,927,134    -                     35,927,134

DEFERRED CREDIT -                     3,080,454      -                     3,080,454

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets -                     (299,480)        -                     (299,480)
Restricted for Participation in Power 
Projects 1,706,633      1,523,365      (1,523,365)     1,706,633
Unrestricted 4,420,038      1,890,538      -                     6,310,576

Total Net Position 6,126,671$   3,114,423$   (1,523,365)$  7,717,729$
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2016
CMMPA CMMPA CapX
Agency Project Eliminations Initiative

OPERATING REVENUES
Transmission Sales 2,167,304$    2,765,257$    (1,334,881)$   3,597,680$

OPERATING EXPENSES
O&M Assessments -                     68,084           -                     68,084
Tariff Distributions -                     272,516         -                     272,516
Distribution of Member Owned Assets 1,334,881      -                     (1,334,881)     -                     
Depreciation  -                     803,923         -                     803,923
Amortization 853,318         761,682         (761,682)        853,318

Total Operating Expenses 2,188,199      1,906,205      (2,096,563)     1,997,841

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (20,895)          859,052         761,682         1,599,839

NONOPERATING REVENUES
  (EXPENSES)

Interest Expense -                     (1,454,640)     -                     (1,454,640)
  (Expenses), Net -                     (1,454,640)     -                     (1,454,640)

CHANGES IN NET POSITION (20,895)$       (595,588)$     761,682$       145,199$
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MUNICIPAL COMPASS TO POWER 

January 2018

Dear Friend,

Happy 2018!  As we move forward with plans for the new year and complete reviews of 2017, we 
are pleased to share our 2016 accomplishments with you.  The Central Minnesota Municipal 
Power Agency/Central Municipal Power Agency Services (CMMPA/CMPAS) Annual Report 
outlines our successful 2016, and we continue on track to offer innovative and affordable projects 
to our public power communities.

Every year brings change, and for CMMPA/CMPAS, we welcome Chris Kopel as Interim-Chief 
Executive Officer.  Although new in this role, Chris is very familiar with CMPAS’s short-term and 
long-term goals serving as the Agency’s Chief Operating Officer since 2013.  Chris continues to 
lead a number of key strategic initiatives in power supply, transmission, distribution mapping, and 
financial and human resource planning for the Agency and its members. 

As much as we are glad to welcome Chris to this new role, we will miss Steve Thompson, who 
decided to retire from the Agency in January 2018.  CMMPA/CMPAS expresses its deep 
appreciation for the valuable leadership and significant contributions that Steve has provided to 
CMMPA/CMPAS over the years.  

Steve’s many accomplishments include leading the Agency and its members in the planning and 
procurement of their first wholesale power portfolios to replace their legacy full requirements 
contracts with Xcel Energy; diversifying their power supply portfolios with long-term nuclear and 
wind purchases; spearheading our entry into transmission ownership with precedent-setting 
FERC approval; launching an array of innovative member services, such as R4 Solar; and 
enhancing  CMMPA/CMPAS’s reputation as a low cost, reliable and member-oriented joint action 
agency.  We thank Steve Thompson for his 18 years of service. 

We hope you enjoy reviewing the enclosed 2016 Annual report that reflects the hard work of 
Steve, Chris, and the entire CMMPA/CMPAS staff.  Thanks to their efforts, we are well-positioned 
to continue providing reliable, competitively-priced, and environmentally-sound electricity for 
our cities. 

We look forward to our continued working relationship with our public power partners and others 
in the electric utility industry!  

Sincerely,

Tim Stoner, 
CMMPA/CMPAS Board President



 
 
 
January 18, 2018 
Administrator’s Summary 
 
 
CMPAS 
 Anticipated Personnel Changes 
 Official Announcement to Follow 
 Attended Meeting with Representative Quam and Senator Senjem  
 
Arena Committee Meeting  
 Next Meeting January 25, 2018 
 
Old Stone Water Tower   
 Reviewed Information on File; Talked With Kelly Gragg-Johnson 

Wednesday, January 17, 2018 Meeting with DCHS Representatives 
Referred to Natascha Wiener for Assistance  

 Preserve Minnesota Annual Conference September 12, 13, 14 at Winona 
 
Prairie Willows Townhomes 
 Reviewed Request to Combine Lots with City Attorney 
 Provided Documentation for Review 
 
Fairgrounds Electric Utility 
 Inactivating Five Accounts on a Seasonal Basis 
 
Electric Service by Exception Acquisition 

Multiple Requests for Clarification on Costs; May Proceed to MPUC.    
 
Images Expansion 

Working through Grant Opportunities with Rebecca Charles, EDA Coordinator 
 
Comprehensive Plan 
 Work Group Meeting on Wednesday, February 5, 2018 at 5:30 at Kasson Public Utilities 
 (The kickoff meeting was on May 15, 2017) 
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Kasson Safe Routes to School

MnDOT
Transportation Alternatives Solicitation

February 9, 2018

Presenters:
Dan Eggler, City Council Member
Brandon Theobald, P.E., Consulting City Engineer
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Outline

• Overview
• SRTS Planning
• Community Support
• Proposed Improvements
• Costs
• Questions
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Overview

• Fast Growing Community/Area 
• K-M Campus
• Minor Arterial/Major Collector
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SRTS Planning
• Planning completed in 2016-2017
• Participation

– MnDOT Planning
– Dodge County Public Health
– Dodge County Engineer
– Dodge County EDA
– K-M School District
– K-M Community Education
– City of Mantorville (Mayor/Staff)
– City of Mantorville Engineer
– City of Kasson (Council/Staff)
– City of Kasson Engineer
– Kasson Police Department
– Kasson Public Library
– Planning and Zoning Commission
– Citizens
– Local Daycare
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SRTS Planning

• Proposed Improvements from plan
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Community Support
• Comprehensive plan

– Online comments
– Public Meetings
– Many comments in support of proposed project

• ADA Transition Plan
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Proposed Improvements

• Safer Intersections/Crosswalks
– Bump outs / Pedestrian flasher system
– Striping
– Defined Cross walks

• At locations currently used

• Connectivity to Existing Facilities
– Dodge County Trail System
– City of Mantorville

• Public/Private Partnerships
– Recent Trails by Developers
– Future Trails by Developers
– Committed to provide connectivity
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Proposed Improvements

• xxx
– xxxx
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Costs

• Eligible Construction
– $375k

• Non-eligible
– $75K

• Total Project
– $450K

• $300K TA
• $150K Local

• Local Participation
– $150K

• $60K K-M School
• $90K City of Kasson

• Local Project Delivery
– MSAS City
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Questions? 

Thank You
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